St. John's University St. John's Scholar

Theses and Dissertations

2021

INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE PRIMARY YEARS TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON EDUCATING STUDENTS WITH DYSLEXIA

Jennifer Preschern Saint John's University, Jamaica New York

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.stjohns.edu/theses_dissertations

Part of the Special Education and Teaching Commons

Recommended Citation

Preschern, Jennifer, "INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE PRIMARY YEARS TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON EDUCATING STUDENTS WITH DYSLEXIA" (2021). *Theses and Dissertations*. 286. https://scholar.stjohns.edu/theses_dissertations/286

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by St. John's Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of St. John's Scholar. For more information, please contact fazzinol@stjohns.edu.



INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE PRIMARY YEARS TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON EDUCATING STUDENTS WITH DYSLEXIA

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

to the faculty of the

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION SPECIALTIES

of

THE SCHOOL OF EDUCATION

at

ST. JOHN'S UNIVERSITY

New York

by

Jennifer Preschern

Date Submitted : 2/04/2021

Date Approved : 5/19/2021

Jennifer Preschern

Kyle Cook



© Copyright by Jennifer Preschern 2021 All Rights Reserved



ABSTRACT

INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE PRIMARY YEARS TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON EDUCATING STUDENTS WITH DYSLEXIA

Jennifer Preschern

Global organizations, such as the United Nations, have increasingly focused on ensuring that students with special needs are receiving high quality education. With schools in over 158 countries worldwide, the International Baccalaureate (IB) system provides an ideal forum to investigate if students with dyslexia globally are receiving adequate instruction. Yet, there is a general lack of research investigating IB schools, specifically for students with learning differences such as dyslexia. Providing a curriculum framework for students ages three to 12, the Primary Years Program (PYP) forms the foundation of the IB system. This quantitative research study used online survey methods to assess IB PYP teacher perceptions of educating students with dyslexia with a global sample of IB PYP teachers. Through a combination of descriptive and regression analyses, this research describes overall IB PYP teacher understanding of dyslexia, as well as identifies potential educational barriers that affect students with dyslexia. As a result of this research, IB instructors and administrators may have a better understanding of potential areas for growth in order to ensure that students internationally with dyslexia receive high quality education.



DEDICATION

I'd like to thank several people for supporting me on this journey. First, I want to thank my parents for always encouraging me to pursue academic excellence. From my early childhood, my mother (also an educator) took on extra playground duties and afterschool tutoring assignments in order to financially support my various academic pursuits. My dad encouraged both my brother and I to spread our wings and fly. As a result, I've had the opportunity to travel the world, live abroad, and become a student of the world. I've had fun storming the castle, dad.

I'd also like thank my brother Dr. Tim McGee for being an inspiration. In college, he told me that teaching aerobics wasn't as hard as his marathons, so I ran a marathon. Then, he told me that marathons were not as challenging as triathlons, so I had to do an Ironman too. Tim got a PhD. I finally caught up. We are not (really) in a race, but pushing myself to keep up with you has always made me better.

I would also like to thank my daughters, Isabella and Veronika. I am inspired on a daily basis by their fearless abilities to integrate into new cultures. Watching them learn to speak several languages, make international friends, and grow into beautiful and kind women has been a great joy in my life. Thank you to both of you ladies for cooking and cleaning while I've been sitting in front of my computer working, every day.

Finally, I'd like to thank Richard Preschern, my husband. When I met him, I knew relatively little about the world outside of the USA. As an Austrian citizen and international student, he opened the world to me. I am forever changed because of his influence. Thank you for supporting me on my endless adventures.



ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I'd like to thank my advisor, Dr. Kyle Cook, for her support throughout this process. I'm constantly amazed at the speed at which Dr. Cook answers emails. She has provided a constant stream of feedback throughout both my studies and this dissertation process. I'd also like to thank Dr. Olivia Stewart for her guidance. Dating back from her class in multi-literacies, she has inspired me to see literacy in new ways. Next, I'd like to thank Evan Ortlieb and the entire SJU school of education faculty. This cutting-edge program has revolutionized my understanding of what education is and could become.

In addition to the SJU staff and faculty, I want to than my SJU peer cohort. Thanks to all of your endless messages, emails, and Whats App late night conversations, you have made me feel supported throughout this journey. Team Umbrage forever! Special thanks to Dona Carhart for being my constant cheerleader and leader of the pack. You are a special lady.

I'd also like to thank all of my colleagues over the years who have encouraged me to go back to school for the PhD and supported me professionally, including Kate Gottfred, John Lybolt, Abbie Olszewski, Molly and Rick Aceves, Hilary Holder, and Julie Irons. I've learned something from each and every one of you.

Finally, I'd like to thank my outstanding extending family. In particular, thank you TJ for being my copy editor. My paternal grandfather, Patrick McGee, was a dean at St. Johns University. It has been an honor to follow in so many McGee footsteps before me.



iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
LIST OF TABLESvi
CHAPTER I1
Global Historical Background on Dyslexia1
International Baccalaureate System Background
Purpose of the Study
Significance of the Study
Research Questions
Definition of Terms
Positionality16
CHAPTER II
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework
Related Research
International Baccalaureate Inclusion Model
Universal Design for Learning within the IB
International Baccalaureate and Differentiation
Potential Barriers to Instruction
Uniform Funding and Policy25
Defining Dyslexia and Disability27
Teacher Knowledge of Dyslexia
Summary
CHAPTER III
Specific Research Questions/ Hypotheses
Research Design
Sample
Instruments
Procedures
Data Analysis Plan
CHAPTER IV
Research Question One
Research Question Two
Research Question Three



Summary	58
CHAPTER V	60
Summary and Discussion	60
Limitations	
Implications and Future Research	66
APPENDIX A	68
APPENDIX B	
APPENDIX C	
APPENDIX D	74
REFERENCES	



LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1 Participant School Location 33
TABLE 2 Participant Citizenship 34
TABLE 3 Sample Demographic Characteristics 36
TABLE 4 Experience Teaching Students with Dyslexia
TABLE 5 Factor Loading Matrix for Barriers Identified on the Survey of Teacher
Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia
TABLE 6 Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale 46
TABLE 7 Responses on Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia Survey:
Have
TABLE 8 Responses on Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia Survey:
Need 51
TABLE 9 IB Teacher-Perceived Educational Barriers to Instructing Students with
Dyslexia
TABLE 10 Results from Linear Regression Analysis Examining how KBDSS Scores
Relate to Number of Educational Barriers
TABLE 11 Results from Binary Logistic Regression Analyses Examining how KBDSS
Scores Relate to Perceived Number of Educational Barriers
TABLE 12 Results from Linear Regression Analysis Examining How Teacher Education
Relates to the Number of Educational Barriers
TABLE 13 Results from Binary Logistic Regression Analyses Examining How Overall
Teacher- Education Level Relates to the Perceived Number of Educational
Barriers



vi

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Global Historical Background on Dyslexia

As one of the most common types of learning disabilities, dyslexia's prevalence has been estimated at 5-10% of school-aged children, depending on language and culture (Verhoeven et al., 2019; Wagner et al., 2020). Despite its prevalence, dyslexia is sometimes considered an *invisible disability* (Dreyer et al., 2020), and dyslexia advocates themselves have long faced criticism from those who allege dyslexia is a myth and those who contend students with dyslexia are unworthy of additional educational support (Nicolson, 1996; Worthy et al., 2018).

In the past two decades, researchers have identified genetic and neurobiological markers of dyslexia (Becker et al., 2017; Black et al., 2017; Eckert, 2004; Gialluisi et al., 2019). Well-documented methods for how to help students with dyslexia improve their reading abound (Compton, 2020; Fuchs et al., 2017; Lindstrom, 2019; Shaywitz & Shaywitz, 2020; Wanzek et al., 2017), and research from the fields of neuroscience and cognitive science can also inform literacy intervention (Aboud et al., 2018; D'Mello, 2018; Wolf & Stoodley, 2007).

Many schools globally, however, do not utilize effective teaching techniques based on extant dyslexia research (BBC, 2019; Boas, 2020; Landi et al., 2019; Sienknecht, 2020). Furthermore, many countries in the world still do not even recognize dyslexia as a disability (Mather et al., 2020). As a result, dyslexia-studies remains a very hot topic according to top literacy experts (Cassidy et al., 2020). This study contributes to educational discourses about dyslexia, as it analyzes International Baccalaureate Primary



Years Teachers' perceptions of dyslexia. Specifically, this project aims to uncover whether international teachers feel they have adequate preparation, resources, and support to help students with dyslexia.

In some countries, such as the United States and England, researchers and dyslexia advocates have spent decades lobbying for systemic laws, regulations, and educational supports to guarantee the rights of individuals with disabilities such as dyslexia. In the 1920s, Samuel Orton, a neuropathologist from the State University of Iowa, created the first program in the world specifically designed for students with dyslexia. Orton's program paired multi-sensory teaching strategies with systematic, sequential lessons focused on phonics (Institute for Multisensory Education, n.d.).

After the death of Dr. Orton in 1949, his widow, June Lyday Orton, formalized the Orton Society, which remains the oldest organization in the world dedicated to the study of dyslexia. Urged by advocates, such as the Orton Society and political activists (Moody, 2012), United States President Gerald Ford signed the first global special education law in 1968 — the *Education for All Handicapped Children Act* (Public Law 94.142) (Gerber, 2001). This law, now known as the *Individuals with Disabilities Education Act* (IDEA), upholds and protects the rights of infants, toddlers, children, and youths with disabilities and their families. In 1968, the law stated:

The term *specific learning disability* means a disorder in one or more basic psychological processes involved in understanding or in using language, spoken or written, which may manifest itself in an imperfect ability to listen, speak, write, spell or do mathematical calculations. The term includes such conditions as perceptual handicap, brain injury, minimal brain dysfunction, DYSLEXIA



(emphasis added), and developmental aphasia. Such terms do not include children who have learning disabilities which are the result of visual, hearing, or motor handicaps of mental retardation, of emotional disturbance, or of environmental, cultural, or economic disadvantage (US Office of Education, 1977).

The Orton Society was renamed the Orton Dyslexia Society in 1982, due to growing acceptance of the term *dyslexia*. In 1994, the Orton Dyslexia Society, in partnership with the National Center for Learning Disabilities and the National Institute of Child Health and Development, created the first globally-accepted, official definition of dyslexia as part of their Definition Consensus Project (International Dyslexia Association, n.d.). This definition, which is still utilized by many states and countries today, reads as follows:

Dyslexia is characterized by difficulties with accurate and/or fluent word recognition and by poor spelling and decoding abilities. These difficulties typically result from a deficit in the phonological component of language that is often unexpected in relation to other cognitive abilities and the provision of effective classroom instruction. Secondary consequences may include problems in reading comprehension and reduced reading experience that can impede growth of vocabulary and background knowledge.

This standardized definition aligned the professional community and laid the groundwork for important future North American public policy initiatives (Nicolson, 1996).

The United States Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) was reauthorized in 2004, and again in 2015, with the Every Student Succeeds Act (2015). However, it still does not specifically define dyslexia. Although individual states have to



www.manaraa.com

provide the minimum rights and protections delineated by IDEA, they can individually decide how to address these issues (US Department of Education, 2015).

Dyslexia advocates in Britain have also long championed both national protection and teacher education to support students with disabilities. In 1962, several United Kingdom neurologists and psychologists opened the Word Blind Centre in Bloomsbury (University of Oxford, n.d.). The World Blind Centre endeavored to research the causes and the treatments of dyslexia. In addition, the group sought to advocate for students with dyslexia, oftentimes fighting against governmental and educational authorities who argued against the existence of dyslexia (Kirby, 2019). Following the closure of the Word Blind Centre in the early 1970s, more research centers and private dyslexia schools were opened in England. In 1972, many of these organizations joined to form the British Dyslexia Association (British Dyslexia Association, n.d.).

The British Dyslexia Association campaigned against the notion that dyslexia was a middle-class myth (Nicolson, 1996). Their campaign peaked in 1978, when the Baroness Mary Warnock authored the Warnock report, a study commissioned by the Department for Education and Science. Baroness Warnock reported that government officials told her "not to suggest that there is a special category of learning difficulty called dyslexia" (Warnock, 2013). Eventually, British dyslexia advocates scored their first real victory with the Education Act of 1981 (Education Act, 1981). The Education Act of 1981 finally implemented several of the Warnock report's recommendations. Notably, the Education Act changed the language used to describe students. Whereas before students were described as handicapped, now they were described according to a



continuum of need. This linguistic change made it possible for students with dyslexia in England to receive support services through a formal *statement of special educational needs* (Education Act 1981). A decade later, the Education Act of 1993, and a subsequent Code of Practice, made it the responsibility of schools to identify and to support students with special needs as soon as possible (British Department of Education, 1994). This onus of responsibility resulted in students with dyslexia receiving treatment much earlier. In 2009, the United Kingdom government commissioned the ROSE Review, an independent group, to make recommendations on how to identify and teach children with dyslexia (Rose, 2009; University of Oxford, n.d.). This group made the definition of dyslexia official in Britain. It still reads as follows:

Dyslexia is a learning difficulty that primarily affects the skills involved in accurate and fluent word reading and spelling. Characteristic features of dyslexia are difficulties in phonological awareness, verbal memory and verbal processing speed. Dyslexia occurs across the range of intellectual abilities. Co-occurring difficulties may be seen in aspects of language, motor co-ordination, mental calculation, concentration and personal organization, but these are not, by themselves, markers of dyslexia.

Expanding on the work of the British Dyslexia Association and the United States-based International Dyslexia Association, the European Dyslexia Association (EDA) was founded in Brussels in 1987 (Mather, 2020). The EDA amalgamated similar organizations from Belgium, Ireland, Germany, Denmark, Norway, the Netherlands, France, and the United Kingdom. In the past ten years, the EDA has expanded to include these countries: Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, Greece,



Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Luxembourg, North Cyprus, Malta, Poland, Portugal, San Marino, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, and Switzerland. The EDA is still dedicated to its mission of informing people and policy-makers how to support individuals with dyslexia. Central to the EDA's mission is an insistence on providing an appropriate education that helps preserve individual self-esteem (European Dyslexia Association, n.d.).

In the past thirty years, other major governmental organizations have also started to advocate for the rights of people with disabilities. Inclusive education is now established as a global field of educational-research and has the ability to inform policy and practice (Hernández-Torrano, 2020; Slee, 2018). In 1994, for example, over 92 governments participated in the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)'s *Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs Education*, which declared that every child has a right to have their unique characteristics, interests, abilities, and learning needs met (UNESCO, 1994). Similarly, the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities created a nondiscriminatory agreement among signatories— and featured UN record-high participation (UN, n.d.). The non-discriminatory agreement outlined transformative changes in inclusive education and underscored improvements in educational practices for individuals with disabilities (UN, 2006).

Advocates and change-makers continue to rally behind inclusive pedagogy. In 2006, for instance, a group called Dyslexia and Literacy International (originally Dyslexia International) was granted official status with UNESCO. In 2010, Dyslexia and Literacy International helped coordinate the World Dyslexia Forum at UNESCO, inviting literacy experts from across the world to discuss literacy acquisition (Dyslexia and



Literacy International, n.d.) Dyslexia and Literacy International works with some of the most impoverished countries in the world and provides low-to-no-cost training for teachers. In addition, they currently provide free online dyslexia courses for teachers in a variety of languages.

Global advocacy groups and international educational agreements are widespread, but educational access for students with dyslexia remains fraught with challenges (Cassidy et al., 2020; Hernández-Torrano, 2020; Kiru & Cooc, 2018). Challenges remain for several reasons. First, providing learning support and differentiated instruction for students who struggle is not a universal goal. Second, resources are not allocated equitably in all countries (Cassidy et al., 2020; Mather, 2020).

In many countries, there is also variability regarding how disabilities such as dyslexia are defined, identified, and treated. China represents one such example of variability. The Chinese government has produced the China Special Education Promotion Plan (China's Law on the Protection of Persons with Disabilities, 1990), but the plan itself contains no recognition of dyslexia or any other learning disability. (Fu et al., 2020; Kim, et al., 2019). A similar problem besets Europe, where only half the countries currently consider dyslexia as a special education need (Gyoerfi & Smythe, 2010; Ramberg & Watson, 2020). In Austria, to cite another example, students can receive one hour per week of remedial teaching (*Förderunterricht*) and support to learn German as a "non-regular student" (*außerordentliche Schüler*) or through ancillary German instruction (Nusche et al., 2016). However, there is no national policy that identifies or supports learning disabilities, such as dyslexia, within the general school framework. In 2020, the European Dyslexia Association (EDA) recognized the



exclusionary practices of many schools when it comes to dyslexia. The EDA wrote an open letter to the European members of parliament, which testified that millions of citizens are excluded from educational and employment opportunities when dyslexia and other learning disorders are not taken into account. The EDA's letter states that "European standardization and policies do not sufficiently take into account the needs of people with disabilities and are not sufficiently enforced at national level" (European Dyslexia Association, 2020).

In 2020, Mather et al. briefly documented the current state of dyslexia around the world. Utilizing an intensive search-engine study, Mather's team documented the global online presence of dyslexia. Their study's objective was to document how dyslexia is viewed internationally. According to Mather et al., the world-leading dyslexia organizations remain the following: International Dyslexia Association, European Dyslexia Association, and Dyslexia and Literacy International (partner of UNESCO). Although Mather's study concludes that dyslexia has a strong online presence internationally, many countries still do not acknowledge dyslexia and many individuals with dyslexia continue to be stigmatized across the world.

International Baccalaureate System Background

The International Baccalaureate (IB) system, founded in 1968, currently offers programs worldwide in over 4,964 schools in 153 countries. Its mission is to develop inquiring, knowledgeable, and caring young people who help create a better and more peaceful world through intercultural understanding and respect. To this end, the organization works with schools, governments and international organizations to develop



challenging programs of international education and rigorous assessment (International Baccalaureate, 2019).

Originally, the IB system focused on secondary school students (roughly ages 14-18) in a Diploma Program (DP). However, the program expanded to include a Middle Years Program (MYP) in 1994 and a Primary Years Program (PYP) in 1997 (International Baccalaureate, 2017a). The IB offers schools, both private and public, a framework for learning that focuses on developing inquiring, knowledgeable, and caring young people who help to create a better and more peaceful world through intercultural understanding and respect (International Baccalaureate, 2017b). While not providing directive curriculum requirements, the IB system offers schools an educational framework. Schools worldwide can choose to become IB accredited by following the IB guidelines and process (International Baccalaureate, n.d.).

International schools, which operate alongside but outside of national publicschool systems, are encouraged to adapt practices that support students who have additional needs, such as dyslexia, under the IB guidelines (Gabor, 2010). Schools are also encouraged to create Individual Learning Plans for students (International Baccalaureate, 2016).

At this time, the IB provides guidelines that suggest students with learning differences should be included in education. According to the IB, inclusion can be defined as:

An ongoing process that aims to increase access and engagement in learning for all students by identifying and removing barriers to learning. It involves change



www.manaraa.com

and is facilitated in a culture of collaboration, mutual respect, support and problem solving (International Baccalaureate, 2016).

The IB offers six strategies to help create an inclusive school (International Baccalaureate, 2016). These include creating optimal learning environments that celebrate and embrace the diversity of all learners, using technology that is accessible to all learners, developing collaborative learning activities that include initiatives with shared goals and involve all members of the school community, promoting approaches to learning that develop affective and metacognitive skills, creating accessible assessments in terms of design, content and medium, and teaching to variability. This also includes differentiation (Tomlinson & Cunningham, 2003; International Baccalaureate, 2014) and Universal Design for Learning (UDL) – a framework for curriculum development that provides all students with equal opportunities to learn (Rose & Gavel, 2010; Rose & Meyer, 2011).

However, unlike public schools in the United States or Britain, where laws specifically govern how schools are expected to operate and protect students with learning differences, the international education sector, specifically within the IB, currently has no specific regulations or protections for children with special needs (Pletser, 2016). For example, in the USA, the federal *Individuals with Education Act* describes student rights (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 2004) while states and local school districts define special education processes and labels. By contrast, the IB school system does not have specific regulations, procedures, and labels in place like this. According to the IB, it is the individual school's responsibility to determine how to turn inclusion theory into practice (IB Community Blog, 2019). However, many IB



schools are located in countries with no national legislation regarding special education. It is unknown if this influences educational practices for students with special needs, specifically dyslexia, within the IB PYP setting. It is also not well understood if IB PYP teachers who work in countries with national special education policies, like the USA or Britain, are utilizing these national frameworks within their school settings. In addition, there are no IB systemic policy documents specifically protecting education for students with dyslexia or other reading difficulties. There is little research that looks at whether or not this influences instruction in IB PYP schools.

Another focus in IB schools is on removing barriers to learning (IB Community Blog, 2019). The IB states barriers to learning might include the ways schools are organized and resourced. School cultures and policies, approaches to teaching and learning, physical aspects of buildings, and the ways in which individuals within the school community interact on a daily basis might also create barriers (International Baccalaureate, 2016). For example, Dr. Jayne Pletser, curriculum manager for inclusive education at the IB, explains IB inclusion as "an ongoing process to remove barriers to learning, with respect to all students. The IB acknowledges the changing histories of students – barriers to learning and assessment are not restricted to those with a 'statement of needs" (IB Community Blog, 2019).

At this time, there is little to no research that examines if students with dyslexia are having their needs met within the IB system. There is also very little research conducted on the PYP in general (Lochmiller et al., 2016; McDonald-Lane, 2020). There are few studies assessing these students' successes or challenges, nor are there studies looking at how IB PYP teachers perceive students with disabilities, specifically those



with reading disabilities within the IB system. It is unknown if there are, in fact, barriers to learning for students with special needs, specifically dyslexia. For example, are schools organized with adequate funding and resources to support students with dyslexia? Have IB PYP schools created their own policies and procedures to help students with dyslexia? Do IB PYP teachers have enough education about dyslexia? In 2016, Pletser noted lack of IB research in the area of special education by quoting Haldimann (1998) by stating "research pertaining to special learning needs populations in international schools is relatively uncommon," (p. 133), Pletser then describes how there is still a lack of research at the time of her literature review.

Purpose of the Study

There is limited research examining if IB Primary Years Program (PYP) students with dyslexia are receiving adequate support, including sufficiently-funded support programs and teachers with knowledge about dyslexia. It is also unclear whether factors such as lack of IB shared special education terminology and specific procedures to identify dyslexia influence student education. While many global organizations and advocacy groups have created guides for how to help students with dyslexia, it is not well understood if this knowledge is being utilized within the IB system. This study helps fill this knowledge gap by using a correlational survey research design as the purpose is to describe and interpret the current status of individuals, settings, and conditions (Mertler, 2018).

Specifically, the purpose of the study was to analyze IB PYP teacher knowledge about dyslexia, as well as to explore other potential barriers to instructing students with dyslexia. A correlational survey design (Creswell & Creswell, 2018) was used to examine



IB teacher perceptions of barriers they face educating students with reading difficulties or dyslexia.

Significance of the Study

Misconceptions about dyslexia can result in students being considered lazy or unintelligent (Mather et al., 2020). Students with dyslexia are also more likely to be teased or bullied (Anderson et al., 2020; Beckman et al, 2019). In addition, many individuals with dyslexia struggle because their disability is hidden, and has not been recognized, diagnosed, and addressed (Leitão et al., 2017).

Understanding teacher perceptions of educating students with dyslexia is especially important because teacher attitude is related to a variety of factors from student academics to personal life (Castillo & Gilger, 2018, Hornstra et. al., 2010). Educator selfperceived efficacy also relates to the way that they interact with students (Woodcook et al., 2019). As a result, educators' perceptions of inclusion and awareness of the hindrances are crucial in order to create an inclusive learning environments (Andrikopoulous & Ifanti, 2018; Hoenig et al., 2008). This study aimed to explore IB PYP teacher knowledge and concerns about dyslexia, as the success of any special education program often hangs on buy-in of skilled classroom teachers (Yadav et al., 2015; Woodcock & Woolfson, 2019).

Results from this study can also be utilized to help the global International Baccalaureate system improve educational outcomes for students with dyslexia. Specifically, this study will serve as a foundational analysis of potential barriers that teachers are facing.



Research Questions

The purpose of this study was to examine IB PYP teacher perceptions of educating students with dyslexia. Survey data was collected to address the questions:

1. What do IB teachers know about dyslexia in the domains of general information, symptoms/diagnosis, and treatment of dyslexia?

2. What are some teacher-perceived barriers that influence education of students with dyslexia within the IB classroom?

3. How does teacher knowledge about dyslexia, as well as overall teacher education level, predict perceived barriers of working with students with dyslexia?"

Definition of Terms

International Baccalaurate (IB). The International Baccalaureate system was founded in 1968 in Geneva, Switzerland. Its mission is to develop inquiring, knowledgeable, and caring young people who help create a better and more peaceful world through intercultural understanding and respect. To this end, the organization works with schools, governments and international organizations to develop challenging programs of international education and rigorous assessment (International Baccalaureate, 2019). As of May, 2020, there were 7,002 IB programs being offered worldwide, across 5,284 schools in 158 countries (International Baccalaureate, n.d.). While not providing directive curriculum requirements, the IB system offers schools an educational framework. Schools worldwide can choose to become IB accredited by following the IB guidelines and process (International Baccalaureate, n.d.). The IB can be



offered in English, Spanish, or French; although many schools supplement with other additional languages.

Barriers to Instruction. The concept of barriers to instruction forms one of the principles of inclusion within IB schools (International Baccalaureate, 2016). According to the IB, barriers to learning might include the way schools are organized and resourced. This includes school cultures and policies, approaches to teaching and learning, physical aspects of buildings, and the ways in which individuals within the school community interact on a daily basis. In this study, barriers to learning might include teacher knowledge of dyslexia, school funding and supports, procedures for identification/treatment of students with dyslexia, and use of special education terms (dyslexia labels).

Differentiation. At a basic level, differentiation means that teachers can provide multiple options for students to take in information and express what they learn (Deunk et al., 2018). A differentiated classroom provides different avenues to acquire content, process or make sense of ideas, and develop products. (Tomilson, 2014).

Dyslexia. In reviewing almost 30 years of definitions, Gabor (2010) identified 34 different indicators of dyslexia. For the purposes of this study, dyslexia will be defined in accordance with the First Step Act (2018) (USA) which states: The term dyslexia means an unexpected difficulty in reading for an individual who has the intelligence to be a much better reader, most commonly caused by a difficulty in the phonological processing (the appreciation of the individual sounds of a spoken language), which affects the ability of an individual to speak, read, and spell (First Step Act, 2018).



Inclusion. An ongoing process that aims to increase access and engagement in learning for all students by identifying and removing barriers to learning. It involves change and is facilitated in a culture of collaboration, mutual respect, support and problem solving (International Baccalaureate, 2016).

Primary Years Program (PYP). The Primary Years program is the first step of the International Baccalaureate system. The PYP provides a curriculum framework for students aged 3 to 12. As of 3 September 2019, there are 1,782 schools offering the PYP, in 109 different countries worldwide (International Baccalaureate, n.d.). The PYP curriculum framework is built around six transdisciplinary themes including: who we are, where we are in place and time, how we express ourselves, how the world works, how we organize ourselves, sharing the planet.

Universal Design for Learning (UDL). UDL is based on the idea that variability among learners is the norm (Rose & Gravel, 2010). UDL is a method of that allows teachers to use flexible instruction, techniques and strategies to meet diverse student needs.

Positionality

While I attempted to take an etic, objective approach to this research study, like every researcher, I bring certain biases to how I view the world. As an American-Speech-Language-Hearing Association credentialed speech/language pathologist and Illinoiscertified learning disabilities teacher with over 20 years of experience serving students of all ages, helping them improve their language and literacy practices in schools, my bias is to create highly structured special education systems for students with disabilities.

For over 5 years, I have lived and worked abroad in Europe. However, as a citizen of the United States of America, a country with specific national policies regarding



special education, my bias is also to create some form of international special education policy statements. In addition, as a member of several reading organizations, including the International Dyslexia Association, my further bias is to ensure that all teachers have a shared language of instruction for special education terms, such as dyslexia.



CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF RELATED RESEARCH

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

This study was framed by an Ecological Systems Theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1994; Brofenbrenner & Morris, 2006; Ettekal & Mahoney, 2016), as it examined factors that restricted student access to educational opportunities. Ecological Systems Theory states that individuals interact within interdependent systems that shape their experiences, opportunities, and personal identities. These systems include: micro-, meso-, exo-, and macrosystems. The levels move from smaller, proximal, individual settings to larger, distal settings that indirectly influence people.

The microsystem includes individual and collective capacities, the mesosystem includes interrelationships between contexts, the exosystem includes organization factors, and the macrosystem includes societal and legislative influences (Price & McCallum, 2015). According to Bronfenbrenner (1979), the evolving interactions between the individual (teacher) and the environment (microsystem) is influenced by perceptions, capacities, and method in managing this interaction. The various levels within ecological systems theory are often presented graphically as a series of four systems nested around a focal individual like a set of concentric circles (Ettekal & Mahoney, 2016).

Originally used to describe the systems surrounding a child's biological and psychological development, Ecological Systems Theory has been broadened to help understand multifaceted and interactive effects of personal and environmental factors that determine behavior in various fields (Zavelevsky & Lishchinsky, 2020). Ecological Systems Theory can be particularly useful for understanding teacher perspectives



regarding student access to the general education context, as teachers are also situated in complex social contexts (Ruppar et al., 2017). The goal of this study was to analyze teachers' perspectives on educating students with dyslexia from several systems, as all levels will impact a child with dyslexia within the IB PYP setting.

Microsystem and Mesosystem: The microsystem acknowledges "activities, roles, and interpersonal relations experienced by the person in a given setting" (Bronfenbrenner, 1979, p. 22). This is surrounded by the mesosystem which "comprises the interrelations among two or more settings in which the developing person actively participates" (Bronfenbrenner, 1979, p. 25). For this study, these layers include teacher demographic information, as well as teacher knowledge about dyslexia.

Exosystem: The exosystem consists of social structures, events, and processes which indirectly impact the student in their immediate environment. This includes actions which may "affect, or are affected by, what happens in the setting containing the [...] person" (Bronfenbrenner, 1979, p. 25). This level might also include school decision making processes, practice in other classrooms and school policy over which they have no influence but could impact upon the organization (Dobson & Douglas, 2020). This survey in this research will analyze factors such as individual school funding, use of definitions, and support services.

Macrosystem: The most distal process relates to cultural, ideology, and wider factors. The macrosystem refers to school policies, structures, cultural, and social values impacting students with disabilities and their access to inclusive education (Kurth et al., 2018). In this study, questions were asked about overall perception of labels, policies, and guidelines for dyslexia.



Related Research

International Baccalaureate Inclusion Model

At this time, the International Baccalaureate (IB) system does not have specific regulations and policies for special education. However, schools are encouraged to be inclusive of all learning needs. According to Dr. Jayne Pletser, global curriculum manager for inclusive education at the IB, inclusion is "an ongoing process to remove barriers to learning, with respect to all students. The IB acknowledges the changing histories of students – barriers to learning and assessment are not restricted to those with a 'statement of needs." With this being said, Dr. Pletser also stated that how a school puts this definition into practice is dependent on the school context, culture, and national legislation of the school's location (IB Community Blog, 2019).

To date there are no studies directly related to inclusion of students with dyslexia within the IB PYP system. The little research that currently exists for inclusion within the IB system is focused on students enrolled in the IB Diploma Program (DP), which serves high school students. For example, a 2020 study by Bittencourt analyzed whether inclusive IB DP policies created higher achievement levels and more social cohesion for underserved school students in Ecuador. During a year-long ethnographic study of a lowincome public school with an IB DP option, Bittencourt outlined that the IB program did not in fact increase the school's social inclusion and cohesion. Instead, it led to a dichotomized school, creating tensions between students and staff. It also stigmatized students who were not enrolled or accepted into the IB program.

Another 2020 study by Chae utilized a transcendental phenomenological research design to identify barriers preventing underrepresented student access to the IB diploma



program. She found families and students struggled to navigate the curriculum. As a result, they struggled with the IB DP. No studies to my knowledge, have been conducted to identify whether or not the inclusive guidelines of the IB are in resulting in students with special needs being successfully included in IB PYP programs.

Universal Design for Learning within the IB

The IB encourages schools to use Universal Design for Learning (UDL) as one method for creating an inclusive environment for all students (International Baccalaureate, 2016; Rao et al., 2016). UDL is based on the concept of universal design (UD), which was developed in the 1980s by Ronald Mace, an architect (Zazler & Joines, 2009). Originally, UD focused on creating physical access to the environment, with the idea that all areas could become more accessible to people with disabilities (Mace, 1998). In the 1980s, researchers at the Center for Applied Special Technologies (CAST) extended this concept to the learning environment, focusing on curriculum development and instruction (Ralabate, 2011; Rose & Meyer, 2006). They called this modification Universal Design for Learning. UDL provides a framework for creating instructional goals, methods, materials and assessments that accurately assess learner progress (Cressey, 2020; Glass et al., 2013). According to CAST (2018), UDL has three main principles:

- Multiple means of representation: This includes using multi-modal tools to provide information through a combination of visual, auditory, oral, and text-formats.
- Multiple means of engagement: Teachers are encouraged to connect lessons with authentic and relevant information.



• Multiple means of action and expression: In this UDL principle, students are encouraged to demonstrate knowledge in a variety of ways, including using both digital and online tools.

According to UDL, teachers can meet the needs of diverse learners by flexibly presenting content, designing activities to motivate and engage students, and providing options for students to demonstrate their understanding of the content (Meyer et al., 2014; Schreiber, 2017).

In an IB-sanctioned 2016 study, Rao et al. explored how IB educators and administrators are implementing UDL in classrooms and school settings across all three IB regions (Africa, Europe, and the Middle East; Asia-Pacific; and the Americas). Survey data was collected from 127 participants, and 10 participants were selected for case study interviews. This study looked at all grade levels of the IB curriculum, with 14% at the Primary Years Level, 12% at Middle Years Program, 98% at Diploma Program, and 6% at Career Certificate Level. Some respondents marked more than one grade level if the school included multiple programs. The results indicate that IB educators are implementing inclusive practices, although their degree of knowledge about the UDL framework itself varies. IB teachers and administrators are familiar with various strategies to differentiate instruction, integrate flexible options during instruction, and implement instructional strategies to engage and motivate all learners. The authors suggested that more research should focus on a broader sample of schools, especially those which operate under national special education laws that protect the right of all students to an education. In addition, the schools in the case studies had significant resources available to them. The authors also suggested expanding research to include



other less-well funded schools. Finally, even though inclusive practices were implemented at high levels in the chosen schools, study participants still frequently reported that they needed more time and knowledge to implement the practices of UDL. This study did not investigate teacher perceptions whether students with disabilities, including dyslexia, were having their needs met. Finally, the authors suggested that more research is needed to examine specific areas where teachers need support in order to better implement practices in their classrooms.

International Baccalaureate and Differentiation

Another aspect of inclusion within IB schools is differentiation. The IB defines differentiation as a process of identifying within each learner the most effective strategies for achieving agreed goals so learning opportunities can be created that enable every student to develop, pursue and achieve appropriate personal learning goals (International Baccalaureate, 2016). Using the works of Tomilnson and Cunningham (2003), the IB further describes the three aspects of differentiation: content (information that a student should learn and understand), process (methods in which student gains access to the knowledge, understanding, and skills), and product (evidence that students can provide for what they know and understand).

There has been very limited documentation of potential problems that IB schools face at all grade levels regarding implementing differentiation for students with learning differences. Researchers at the University of Georgia's Education Policy and Evaluation Center, for example, collected data in three elementary schools in Georgia to determine how the PYP was implemented (Hall et al., 2009). While this study did not investigate if students with special needs, such as dyslexia, were specifically having their needs met,



this study identified six strategies that were needed for successful PYP implementation in general: whole-school immersion, collaborative planning, continuous training, availability of resources, community involvement strategies, and supportive school leadership. In this particular study, the schools were able to find support from state education agencies and school districts in the United States of America. By contrast, Lochmiller and colleagues (2016) analyzed challenges facing IB PYP implementation within four Colombian schools for bilingual learners. In this study, the authors noted that coherent, sustained support to classroom teachers at all levels was a missing element to IB PYP best practice implementation, as there were no available state or local resources.

At the high school IB level, Dulfer (2019) conducted a series of case studies analyzing differentiation within IB DP schools. His results indicate that IB DP teachers also struggled with processes for inclusion, especially when content loads were high. He concluded that teachers need support in order to create flexible teaching to meet the individual learning needs of students (Allcock & Hulme, 2010; Santangelo & Tomlinson, 2009). At this time, little to no research has investigated whether differentiation within IB PYP schools includes instruction specifically targeted to meet the specific needs of students with dyslexia.

Potential Barriers to Instruction

Another way that the IB encourages inclusion of all students is by removing barriers to instruction. The IB describes that barriers to learning include school organization, resources, culture, and policies. Approaches to learning, building design, and student-community interactions create additional potential barriers (International Baccalaureate, 2016). Dr. Jayne Pletser, global curriculum stated that "inclusion can be



impeded when learning barriers are not identified and removed" (International Baccalaureate Community Blog, 2019).

While there are currently little to no studies analyzing barriers that students with dyslexia may face within IB PYP schools, there are many studies globally that document barriers in other school contexts for students with dyslexia. Issues that might affect IB PYP schools include: lack of funding and uniform policy, multiple definitions of dyslexia, controversy over labelling, and lack of teacher education on dyslexia.

Uniform Funding and Policy. Lack of both funding and uniform policy to support and govern practice are more potential barriers. Poor funding for extra learning support in some countries makes it difficult to develop inclusive practices (Pletser, 2016; Woodcock & Wolfson, 2019). Successful implementation of the IB PYP for all students is resource-heavy (Bittencourt, 2020). This has been identified as a barrier to successful IB PYP implementation in general, in particular for developing countries and statesponsored schools (Barnett, 2013, Resnik, 2012). Specific concerns include lack of funding for purchasing and retaining high-quality resources, hiring and retaining high quality teachers, and providing professional development (Gaetane et al., 2015).

In a 2020 study, McDonald-Lane conducted case study analysis with IB PYP teachers to identify areas where teachers needed support, in general. Her research participants indicated that lack of resources was a barrier to successfully implementing the PYP curriculum for all students. Participants also indicated that information on the IB's website is too varied, confusing, and hard to navigate. Many of the IB resources are also not applicable to concepts being taught. In addition, teachers struggled to find



enough time to adjust resources. McDonald-Lane did not specifically investigate the impact of policy, funding, and resources on students with special needs.

According to the IB, schools should create inclusive policies using national legislation from the schools' location as a guide (IB Community Blog, 2019). However, many countries have variable, unclear policies. Others lack policy for special needs and dyslexia completely. For example, the United States Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) legislation recognizes specific learning disabilities as a category (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 2004). IDEA governs how states and public agencies must provide early intervention, special education, and related services for more than 6.5 million eligible US infants, toddlers, children, and youths with disabilities (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 2004 While IDEA does not specifically identify the category dyslexia, some individual state laws do. However, specific language regarding dyslexia remains blurry and unspecified in many states (Zirkel, 2020). In addition, concerns still remain about how best to operationalize policy and definitions (AI Otaiba & Petscher, 2020).

As another example, only half the countries in Europe consider dyslexia as a special education need (Gyoerfi & Smythe, 2010, Ramberg & Watson, 2020). The European Dyslexia Association wrote a letter to the members of European Parliament in 2020 reminding all candidates that "millions of citizens are still excluded from school and employment in Europe as dyslexia and specific learning disorders are often poorly taken into account" (European Dyslexia Association, 2020).

Moreover, the China Special Education Promotion Plan also has no category for dyslexia (Fu et. al., 2020; Kim et al., 2019). According to Wang Lei, director of Weining



Dyslexia Education Center which is one of the few centers to help students with dyslexia in mainland China, it is difficult to convince both parents and schools that dyslexia is a real disability due to the lack of educational policies for students with dyslexia (Yiwen, 2018).

Finally, there is also no specific policy regarding dyslexia in India. A 2012 Indian *Rights of Persons Disabilities Bill* required schools to detect specific learning disabilities, but implementation still varies from state to state with only 4 states, Maharashtra, Karnataka, Kerala and Delhi, taking serious action (Sadhu, 2015). As a result, children in India with dyslexia and other learning disabilities have often been undiagnosed and labelled as "difficult" or "not bright," rendering students socially and vocationally disadvantaged (Shetty, 2014). It is not clear how this variability in national policy impacts teachers and students with dyslexia within IB PYP schools.

Defining Dyslexia and Disability. The definition of dyslexia itself is another possible barrier to learning for students with dyslexia in IB schools. Dickman (2017) describes that a definition, such as the definition of dyslexia, has a life cycle. First, it informs research that requires common cohorts to promote replicability. Then, it promotes practice to identify effective principles of instruction. Finally, it creates policy to identify the demographic entitled to such research-based practice. Various organizations in countries around the world define dyslexia differently (Mather et al., 2020). In reviewing almost 30 years of definitions, Gabor (2010) identified 34 different indicators of dyslexia. Some countries do not even have a recognized description of dyslexia. For example, only seven European countries (Bulgaria, Denmark, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Sweden, United Kingdom) have a national level official definition


(Gyorfi & Smythe, 2010). Lack of shared teacher language for disabilities is a documented barrier for instruction in other educational settings (Broadbent, 2018; Wagner et al., 2019).

International schools are often comprised of teachers from around the globe. It is unknown if the lack of global shared terminology affects instruction within individual IB PYP schools. Furthermore, studying these differences in policies and definitions is difficult to conduct and implement without unified global terminology (European Agency, 2018). The concept of labelling a child is also still controversial around the world. Lacking associated physical signs or symptoms, dyslexia is often considered an invisible disability (Dreyer et al., 2020). As a result, students labeled dyslexic are frequently considered simply lacking in motivation or commitment (Osterholm et al., 2007). Some professionals do not like labelling students at all because they feel that labels do more damage than good (Boyle, 2007; Cuttler & Ryckmann, 2018; Ellliot 2020; Osterholm et al., 2007; Shifrer, 2013). There is also a question whether labelling a student as "dyslexic" creates a sense in teachers that the problems within the child are immutable (Gibbs & Elliot, 2015; Gibbs, et al., 2020). Dr. Jayne Pletser, IB Global Curriculum Manager for Inclusive Education, stated that the IB is not focused on special education labels, as they are not helpful. She stated "They do not tell us about the individual student, their strengths or interests, but describe a whole range of issues that might have very little to do with their learning needs. Inclusion can only be successfully achieved in a culture of collaboration, mutual respect, support and problem solving." (International Baccalaureate Community Blog, 2015).



By contrast, others feel that labels help professionals provide quality service to children and help keep focus on the child (Gallagher, 1976; Gwernan-Jones & Burden, 2010; Lindstrom, 2019; Riddick, 2000). In addition, with neuroscience research identifying brain differences in students with dyslexia (Centanni, 2020), some claim that the label dyslexic is justified, as there is actually a quantifiable medical neurological difference (Camilleri et al., 2020). It is also unknown how IB PYP teachers perceive special education labels, like dyslexia.

Teacher Knowledge of Dyslexia. Another potential barrier is lack of IB PYP teacher knowledge about dyslexia. Dyslexia is often misunderstood and educators frequently attributed the cause of dyslexia to a visual deficit (Hudson et al., 2007; Wadlington & Wadlington, 2005; Washburn et al., 2011). However, it is widely accepted that dyslexia is language based and characterized by poor phonological processing (Lyon et al., 2003; Snowling, 2000; Perfetti et al., 2019; Torgeson et al., 1997; Vellutino et al., 2004; Wagner et al., 1997). In order to properly educate a student with dyslexia, teachers must be familiar with basic language constructs such as phonology, orthography, and morphology (Bos et al., 2001; Cunningham et al., 2019; Washburn et al., 2011; Wong, 2020). Moats (2009), in her seminal study on teacher knowledge, stated that teachers' of beginning readers need to know phonological units of English, such as rhymes, syllables, and phonemes. Snow, Burns, and Griffin (2005) stated that teachers' knowledge of English orthography and morphology would also help their students' understanding of word structure.

No research study has directly analyzed IB teachers' familiarity with dyslexia. However, other research studies have demonstrated that teachers worldwide lack



understanding of these basic language constructs necessary to help students with dyslexia (Knight, 2018; Mather et. al., 2020; Soriano-Ferrer et al., 2016; Stark et al., 2016; Washburn et al., 2016; Washburn et al., 2017; Wong, 2020; Worthy et al., 2016; Yin, 2020; Zhao et al., 2016). Teachers in studies worldwide have also reported that they need more training to help students with dyslexia (Brown & Bell, 2014; Hauerwas & Mahon, 2018; Peltier et al., 2020; Yin, 2020). Further, Binks-Cantrell, Washburn, Joshi, and Hougen (2012) supported the basic notion that teachers cannot teach what they don't know.

Summary

The International Baccalaureate System encourages inclusion of all students within the Primary Years Program. In order to support inclusion, the IB encourages use of Universal Design for Learning and differentiation. In addition, educators are encouraged to identify and reduce barriers to learning such as school organization and resources, school policies, instructional approaches, school interactions, and physical layout of the school. As the IB does not provide specifications, individual schools must decide how to put these ideas into practice. At this time, there is little research analyzing whether schools are using these general guidelines to successfully educate students with learning disabilities, specifically dyslexia. There are many potential barriers that IB PYP educators might face including lack of individual school policy and funding, unclear definitions of dyslexia, various opinions about labels, and lack of teacher knowledge on dyslexia. There are few studies analyzing whether these issues create barriers to IB PYP teachers. This study aims to fill this gap.



CHAPTER III

METHODS

Specific Research Questions/ Hypotheses

The purpose of this study was to examine IB PYP teacher perceptions of educating students with dyslexia. Survey data was collected to address the following research questions:

Research Question One. What do IB teachers know about dyslexia in the domains of general information, symptoms/diagnosis, and treatment of dyslexia?Research Question Two. What are some barriers that influence education of students with dyslexia within the IB classroom?

Research Question Three. How does teacher knowledge about dyslexia, as well as overall teacher education level, predict perceived barriers of working with students with dyslexia?

For research question one, I hypothesized that there would be variability in what teachers know. For example, some teachers would be more familiar with how to identify and treat dyslexia than others. For research question two, I hypothesized that teachers would confirm barriers, including lack of funding and support, previously identified in research. Research question three included two parts. Specifically, it assessed the connection between teacher dyslexia knowledge and overall teacher education and number of perceived barriers. I hypothesized that as teacher knowledge and education increase, overall barriers would increase. At the same time, I also hypothesized that more dyslexia knowledge and overall education would result in fewer barriers for questions that look at adequacy of teacher training, as previous research states that teacher training



is the most important factor in meeting the needs of students with dyslexia (Knight, 2017; Nijakowska, 2019). Consequently, I planned to investigate both the overall number of barriers as well as the relationship of dyslexia-knowledge and overall education level on individual barriers. The null hypothesis was that knowledge of dyslexia and teacher education level would both have no influence on perceived barriers.

Research Design

This study utilized an online survey design in order to provide a quantitative description of IB PYP teacher knowledge and opinions (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The study was based on Ecological Systems Theory (Brofenbrenner, 1994; Brofenbrenner & Morris, 2006; Ettekal & Mahoney, 2016). This theory has been used in past research to understand teacher perspectives towards student access to the general education environment (Ruppar et al., 2017). This study design aimed to look at teacher perspectives on all of the inter-connected systems. A survey method was chosen for the economy of the design and constraints that preclude other designs. Considering there was very limited research on the topic of dyslexia within the IB system, I also sought to obtain opinions from a wide range of teachers for the purpose of the exploratory study. Participants for the survey were recruited by a multi-faceted sampling technique, including convenience sampling (Creswell & Creswell, 2018) and snowball sampling (Huck, 2012).

Sample

There were no previous studies looking at the correlation of teacher knowledge and factors that relate to dyslexia services in order to determine a power analysis as suggested by Creswell and Creswell (2018). However, a survey study by Rao, et al.



(2016) analyzed IB teacher perceptions of *Universal Design for Learning* with 127 participants. Therefore, this was the target number of this study.

Two hundred and twenty-eight participants started the survey. Ten were removed from the sample because they completed less than five questions. Therefore, the analysis was conducted on a sample of 218 International Baccalaureate (IB) Primary Years Program (PYP) teachers who work in English-speaking schools. Participants were working in 52 different countries, across all six continents with 12.39% working in North America, 6.42% in South America, 17.43% in Europe, 10.56% in Africa, and 32.11% in Asia, and 6.42% in Australia (See Table 1 for participant school location by continent and country).

Table 1

Continent *	n	%	Continent	n	%
North America	27	12.39%	Africa	23	10.56%
Canada	3		Botswana	8	
Virgin Islands	1		Egypt	3	
USA	23		Ghana	1	
South America	14	6.42%	Jordan	2	
Brazil	3		Mauritius	1	
Chile	2		Nigeria	1	
Ecuador	1		Mauritius	1	
Mexico	2		Mozambique	1	
Peru	3		South Africa	2	
Uruguay	3		Uganda	1	
Europe	38	17.43%	United Republic		
Austria	13		of Tanzania	1	
Belgium	1		Zimbabwe	1	
Germany	3		Asia	70	32.11%
Norway	3		Azerbaijan	1	
Poland	3		Bangladesh	1	
Portugal	1		Cambodia	2	
Spain	2		China	7	
Switzerland	3		Hong Kong	5	
Sweden	2		India	24	

Participant School Location



Continent *	n	%	Continent	n	%
Turkey	1		Indonesia	4	
UK and Northern			Japan	1	
Ireland	6		Kazakhstan	1	
Australia	14	6.42%	Lebanon	1	
Australia	9		Mongolia	1	
Fiji	5		Pakistan	8	
			Philippines	1	
			Republic of Korea	1	
			Russian	2	
			Federation		
			Saudi Arabia	2	
			Singapore	4	
			Thailand	2	
			UAE	1	
			Vietnam	1	
			Missing Data	27	12.40%

* Islands categorized by closest continent, n=218

Participants were citizens of 47 different countries, across six continents, with

23.29% participants possessing citizenship from a North American country; 5.50%

participants possessing citizenship from South American country; 16.51% participants

possessing citizenship from a European country; 9.17% participants possessing

citizenship from an African country; and 23.39% participants possessing citizenship from

an Asian country. (See Table 2 below for participant citizenship.)

Table 2

Participant Citizenship

Continent *	n	%	Continent*	n	%
North America	51	23.39%	Africa	20	9.17%
Canada	7		Botswana	4	
USA	44		Egypt	2	
South America	12	5.50%	Jordan	2	
Argentina	1		Mauritius	1	
Brazil	1		Nigeria	1	
Chile	3		Mauritius	1	
Ecuador	1		South Africa	8	
Mexico	1		Uganda	1	
Peru	3		United Republic		



Continent *	n	%	Continent*	n	%
Uruguay	2		of Tanzania	1	
Europe	36	16.51%	Zimbabwe	1	
Austria	3		Asia	51	23.39%
Germany	2		Bangladesh	1	
Hungary	1		Cambodia	1	
Ireland	4		China	3	
Norway	1		Hong Kong	1	
Poland	1		India	24	
Portugal	1		Indonesia	1	
Spain	1		Japan	1	
Switzerland	2		Kazakhstan	1	
Turkey	1		Lebanon	2	
UK and Northern	19		Malaysia	1	
Ireland			Pakistan	8	
Australia	16	7.33%	Philippines	2	
Australia	13		Saudi Arabia	1	
Fiji	2		Singapore	2	
New Zealand	1		Syrian Arab	2	
			Republic		
			Missing Data	31	14.22%

* Islands categorized by closest continent, n=218

The sample was 82.3% women and 5.2% men, with a mean age of 40.96 (SD=8.57). Participants had a wide variety of teaching and IB experience, ranging from new teachers to veterans with more than 30 years' experience. In addition, 32.7% of the sample had a bachelors' degree or equivalent and 54.5% had a Masters' degree or equivalent (see Table 3 for sample demographic characteristics).



Identified Gender			Years Teaching Overall		
Male	11	5.20%	0-5	23	10.56%
Female	175	82.90%	6-10	53	24.31%
Non-Binary	0	0.00%	11-15	34	15.60%
Missing	24	11.40%	16-20	32	14.68%
Age			21-25	22	10.09%
25-30	25	11.47%	26-30	14	6.42%
31-35	30	11.76%	31+	5	2.29%
36-40	35	16.06%	Missing Data	27	12.80%
41-45	36	16.51%			
46-50	36	16.51%	Years Teaching within		
51-55	16	7.34%	IB		
55+	6	2.75%	0-5	89	40.83%
Missing Data	27	12.8%	6-10	59	27.06%
Highest Education Level			11-15	26	11.93%
Bachelors	69	32.7%	16-20	8	3.67%
Master's Degree	115	54.50%	21+	1	.46%
PhD	0	0.00%	Missing Data	28	13.30%
Other	3	1.40%			
Missing Data	24	11.4%			

Sample Demographic Characteristics

n=211

Of the sample, 77.3% reported experience teaching a class that contained students

with dyslexia, with 12.8% of the sample reporting no experience teaching students with

dyslexia in any format (See Table 4 for experience teaching students with dyslexia).

Table 4

Experience Teaching Students with Dyslexia

	n	%	
I have never taught a student with dyslexia	27	12.8%	
I have taught classes with some students with dyslexia	142	67.3%	
I have taught special classes for students with dyslexia	17	8.1%	
I have taught small group, specialized reading sessions	47	22.3%	
for students with dyslexia			

n=218



Instruments

IB YP teachers completed a three-part online survey using Qualtrics (Qualtrics, 2020). The survey was designed based Ecological Systems Theory (Brofenbrenner, 1994; Brofenbrenner & Morris, 2006; Ettekal & Mahoney, 2016). I attempted to analyze all of Brofenbrenner's systems in order to determine the multifaceted and interactive effects of personal and environmental factors that impact teachers (Zaveleveky & Lishchinsky, 2020). IRB participant informed consent was obtained as the first part of the survey (Appendix A). Participants were informed that the survey could be completed anonymously. They were provided information on the study including: purpose, contact information, risks, and benefits. Measures to ensure confidentiality were described.

The next part of the survey was a set of researcher-generated questions called, *Survey of Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia* (Appendix B). This survey assessed teacher perceived factors that might influence dyslexia services including teacher training, policies and funding, and definitions and labelling. These factors included all of Brofenbrenner's systems in Ecological Systems Theory. For example, teacher training could be considered the microsystem. Policies and funding included both exosystem (school policies/funding) and macrosystem (IB policies). Definitions and labelling crossed all the systems.

Items in the *Survey of Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia* were modeled after Buell's study (1999) that analyzed teacher perceptions of programmatic factors necessary for inclusion. The perceptions were analyzed using a yes/no format. Teachers were asked if a factor was present, and if they needed this factor to successfully educate students with dyslexia. This yes/no method generated four possible answers for



every two items—I have/need; I have/do not need; I do not have/need; and I do not have/do not need. Items that participants answered as do not have/need were considered educational barriers: items that participants answered as have/need, do not have/do not need, and do not have/do not need were not considered barriers to student learning. Two questions were excluded from this analysis. These questions were question number 10 *(The country where my school is located has a national policy and/or laws on how to help students with special needs, including but not limited to issues like dyslexia and/or reading difficulties)* and question number 11 *(students can be declined entrance to your school because of academic abilities, including but not limited to dyslexia)*. Questions 10 and 11 were used to provide more information on potential barriers: they were not part of analyzing the need/have four-square matrix.

Confirmatory Factor analysis was completed with these barriers (See Table 5 for Factor Loading). The barriers loaded onto two factors that could be labelled *Educational Supports* and *Special Education Labels*.

Table 5

Factor Loading Matrix for Barriers Identified on the Survey of Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia

	Factor	S
Barriers	1	2
1. Access to support personnel	.51	.43
2. Dyslexia label used	.33	.58
3. School specific guidelines and procedures regarding how to	.62	13
help students with reading difficulties.		
4. Classroom teachers have specialized training for dyslexia.	.63	30
5. Teachers have shared definition of dyslexia.	.55	29
6. School uses special education labels	.22	.50
7. I have specialized dyslexia training.	.54	.13
8. School has specialized, high quality materials and resources for	.68	.08
dyslexia.		



n=211

Reliability was only .26 on the Special Education Label factor, and .64 on Educational Supports. Due to this this low reliability with the Special Education Label factor, I decided to keep all the barriers together for analysis. The Cronbach's Alpha for the entire barrier scale was .63.

The third part of the survey was the *Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale (KBDSS)* (Soriano-Ferrer & Echegaray-Bengoa, 2014; Soriano-Ferrer et al., 2016). This final part of the survey focused on the microsystem within Ecological Systems Theory. The goal was to identify individual teacher perspectives and knowledge on dyslexia. This 36-item true/false/don't know scale (Appendix C) analyzed teacher knowledge and beliefs regarding developmental dyslexia.

This scale was chosen because it could gather a great deal of information about knowledge and beliefs on dyslexia in a short amount of time. On each item, teachers read a statement and identified if it was true or false. If the teacher did not know, they checked "do not know." The scale allowed the researcher to differentiate what teachers didn't know from their misconceptions about dyslexia (Soriano-Ferrer et al., 2016). Answers were categorized into *correct responses, incorrect responses*, and *don't know responses*.

Using exploratory factor analysis, I found that all 36 items loaded onto one KBDSS scale. The Cronbach's alpha for this new variable was .81— a higher internal reliability than .76, which was what Soriano-Ferrer identified with their participants in 2016 (Soriano-Ferrer et al., 2016).



The final part of the survey (Appendix D), modelled after the demographic data taken by Najakowska (2018), assessed teacher country of origin, country of current employment, presence/lack of special education national policy in this country, education level obtained, years teaching, current job description, and amount of experience teaching students with dyslexia.

Procedures

Prior to giving the survey to teachers, it was pilot-tested with three PhD literacy students in order to determine the length of testing and whether participant fatigue was an issue. These trial subjects reported that the survey took approximately 10 minutes, so no changes were made.

Then, I placed a request for participation with four IB PYP Teacher Facebook groups (PYP Teachers - *let's share some ideas*, 20,021 members; IB PYP Teachers *let's share our daily experience*, 9,363 members; PYP *Online Collaboration*, 11,507 members, and PYP *coordinator group*, 3,882 members) using my personal Facebook account. Research by Baltar and Brunet (2012) suggested that using a personal account for online survey design increased participation as it increased participant confidence. A direct link to the survey, along with a few short sentences, an infographic, and weblink to more information was posted. Willing PYP IB teachers were asked to recruit other PYP IB teachers in their network.

Next, an IB-PYP-global-curriculum-development manager tweeted out information about the study, inviting PYP teachers to participate on two IB platforms (IB PYP Twitter Account, 27,200 Followers; IB PYP LinkedIn Group, 7,130 Members). Willing IB-PYP teachers were asked to recruit other Primary Years IB teachers in their



network. From these initial social media contacts, participants referred me to other contacts, which included listservs and global organizations. As a result, I placed information about the study on listservs, which included the following: USA-based Spell Talk; Australian-based DDoll; and the Global Issues Listserv for the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. Organizations such as the Asian SENIA network, Texas IB schools, IB Asia, and the Association for Central European Schools (ACES) were also contacted based on participant referrals. In addition, I followed up with social media postings for two months on a variety of social media sites including Facebook IB PYP groups, LinkedIn, and Twitter.

Data Analysis Plan

Ecological Systems Theory was also used to frame data analysis, as it examined various factors that restricted student access to educational opportunities. SPSS software was used to analyze all results (IBM Corporation, 2013). Before analysis, data was checked and cleaned. To address the first research question *(What do IB teachers know about dyslexia in the domains of general information, symptoms, diagnosis, and treatment?)*, descriptive data from the *Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale* (Soriano-Ferrer & Echegaray-Bengoa, 2014; Soriano-Ferrer et al., 2016) was presented, including percentages of correct responses, incorrect responses, and don't know responses.

To answer the second research question (What are some barriers that influence education of students with dyslexia within the IB classrooms?), descriptive statistics were analyzed for the Survey of Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia, including frequency data for participant responses and the amount of missing data.



Next, questions one through nine on parts one and two of the *Teacher*

Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia survey were paired. Questions on part two analyzed teacher-perceived need, whereas similarly numbered questions on part one analyzed whether teachers felt that they possessed the described knowledge, resources, or skills. Then, the paired question was analyzed to identify need/have, need/do not have, do not have/do not need, and have/do not need.

Following question pairing, educational barriers were identified. Educational barriers were defined as areas in which teachers stated that they needed a resource, a skill or a piece of knowledge. For example: question one on part two stated that "having reading support personnel improves educational outcomes for students with reading problems" and was paired with question one on part one that read "my school has access to support service personnel to help students with reading difficulties, including dyslexia." If a teacher answered *yes* on part two, question one, and *no* or *I don't know* on part one, question one, the answers together would constitute need/do not have. The need/do not have response was categorized as an educational barrier. By contrast, if a teacher answered *yes* on part two, question one, and *yes* on part one, question one, the answers together would constitute need/have response was not categorized as an educational barrier. Frequency data was presented for *educational barriers* which included do not have/need, and *not-an-educational barrier*, which included have/need, do not need, and have/need.

To answer the two-part third question (*How does teacher knowledge, including knowledge about dyslexia as well as overall teacher-education level, predict perceived barriers of working with students with dyslexia?*), several regressions were completed.



First, the connection between teacher dyslexia-knowledge and overall number of perceived barriers was analyzed by using an ordinary-least-squares-linear regression. The independent, continuous variable was the participant-summed-raw scores from the *Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale* (KBDDS). The dependent variable was the number of educational barriers each participant identified on the *Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia* survey. As described in the second research question, each pair of items from the *Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia* survey was categorized as either an educational barrier or not-an-educational barrier. For each participant, the sum total of identified educational barriers was combined to create a new, continuous variable for each participant, which was labeled *sum educational barriers*. Cronbach's alpha for this new variable was .63.

The purpose of the regression was to determine if the independent variable was a significant predictor of the dependent variable (Huck, 2012). For example, as teacher knowledge of dyslexia (independent variable) increased, did participants report a higher number of educational barriers on the *Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia survey*? Initially years of experience teaching was included as a covariate in the analysis, but it was removed as it was found to not be significantly related to barriers.

Then, in order to further analyze the impact of teacher dyslexia knowledge on barriers, binary logistic regressions were conducted with each individual barrier as the dependent variable and the score on the KBDDS as the independent variable. A barrier was defined as an item where teachers stated need/do not have on the Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia survey. Items categorized as do not need/do not have, need/have, and do not need/have were placed into the category not barriers. The



goal of the logistic regression was to determine whether the independent variable scores could be used to discuss the explanatory or predictive power of the dependent variables using the concepts of odds (Huck, 2012). For example, as teacher knowledge (independent variable) increased, what was the likelihood that teachers would perceive a lack of special education funding as being a barrier, as measured by do not have/need on the *Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia* survey.

In order to investigate the second part of research question three, the impact of teacher education level on perceived barriers, the same procedures were followed. First, the highest level of teacher education was recoded into a binary categorical variable. Participants who held secondary school and bachelor's degrees were coded together, resulting in 32.7% of the sample. Then, Masters and PhD degrees, which were 55.9% of the sample, were categorized together. Next, an ordinary least squares linear regression was completed with the binary teacher education level as the independent variable and the sum educational barriers as the dependent variable. Finally, independent binary logistic regressions were completed with each separate barrier as a dependent variables and teacher education as the independent variable. For example, if teachers held a masters or PhD degree, how did this impact the likelihood of them reporting that lack of specific IB special education guidelines was a barrier?



CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Research Question One

To answer research question one "What do IB teachers know about dyslexia in the domains of general information, symptoms/diagnosis, and treatment of dyslexia?" descriptive data from the *Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale* (Soriano-Ferrer & Echegaray-Bengoa, 2014; Soriano-Ferrer et al., 2016) was analyzed. Using Ecological Systems Theory to guide the results, these questions fall within the microsystem level (Brofenbrenner, 1994; Brofenbrenner & Morris, 2006; Ettekal & Mahoney, 2016). The goal was to identify individual skills and knowledge of the teachers. Table six displays the frequency counts for correct, incorrect, and do not know answers.

IB PYP teachers were mostly in agreement about some aspects of dyslexia. For example, 96.2% believed dyslexia exists, 95.2% reported that children with dyslexia are not just lazy, and 92.5% answered that giving accommodations is not unfair to students with dyslexia. On the other hand, teachers also had a variety of misconceptions about the cause/symptoms, diagnosis, and treatment of dyslexia. For example, 59.7% of participants incorrectly reported that dyslexia was caused by visual perceptual problems, 47.3% falsely stated that reversing letters was the main symptom of dyslexia, and 47.1% reported that they didn't know if problems establishing laterality was a symptom of dyslexia. 31.9% of participants either didn't know or didn't think dyslexia was a neurologically based disorder and 45.7% didn't know if dyslexia was hereditary.



In terms of diagnosis, 60.7% of participants correctly stated that administering individualized tests could be helpful in diagnosing dyslexia. However, 65.2% falsely said that intelligence tests were not useful in diagnosing dyslexia. There were also many misconceptions in the area of treatment. Forty-four percent of participants incorrectly reported that color overlays could help students with dyslexia while another 32.8% said they weren't sure if color overlays could help. While 80.7% of participants correctly reported that structured, sequential direct instruction in basic skills and learning was needed, many didn't know exactly what this entailed. For example, 47.1% did not know if multisensory instruction was important to treat dyslexia. Of the participants, 32.1% either didn't know or didn't think phonological awareness training was helpful in treating dyslexia.

Table 6

Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale

Question	Correct	Incorrect	Don't Know
1. I think dyslexia is a myth, a problem that does not really exist. (False)*	96.2%	.5%	3.2%
 Children with dyslexia are not lazy or unintelligent. Being knowledgeable about dyslexia can help them. (True) 	95.2%	1.1%	3.8%
3. A child can be dyslexic and gifted. (True)	95.2%	0%	4.8%
 Giving students with dyslexia accommodations such as extra time on tasks, shorter spelling lists, special seating close to the teacher, etc., is unfair to other students. (False) 	92.5%	3.8%	3.8%
5. All poor readers have dyslexia. (False)	94.1%	2.7%	3.2%
6. People with dyslexia have below-average intelligence. (False)	94.1%	1.1%	4.8%
 Students with dyslexia need structured, sequential, direct instruction in basic skills and learning strategies. (True) 	80.7%	9.1%	10.2%
8. Students with dyslexia often read with inaccuracy and lack of fluency. (True)	80.1%	12.4%	7.5%
	79.0%	9.7%	11.3%



9.	Children with dyslexia tend to be poor spellers.			
	(True)	78.1%	3.7%	18.2%
10.	Physicians can prescribe medications to help			
	students with dyslexia. (False)	78.0%	1.6%	20.4%
11.	Intervention programs that emphasize			
	phonological aspects of language with letters as			
	visual support are effective for students with			
	dyslexia (True)			
12	Most teachers receive specific training to work	76.6%	15.2%	8 2%
12.	with dyslexia children (False)	/0.0/0	13.270	0.270
13	Difficulty with phonological processing of	76 5%	5 9%	17.6%
10.	information is one of the major deficits of	/0.2/0	5.970	17:070
	dyslexia (True)			
14	Dyslexia is a neurologically based disorder	72.6%	7.0%	20.4%
17.	(True)	12.070	7.070	20.470
15	Techniques involving repeated readings of	71.9%	14.6%	13.5%
10.	materials (e.g. words sentences or texts) help to	/1.//0	11.070	15.570
	improve reading and fluency (True)			
16	Many students with dyslevia have low self-	69.2%	17 3%	13 5%
10.	esteem (True)	07.270	17.370	13.370
17	Children with dysleyia have problems with	68.8%	15 1%	16.1%
17.	decoding and spelling, but not with listening	00.070	13.170	10.170
	comprehension (True)			
18	Generally children with dyslexia have problems	67.9%	18 7%	13.4%
10.	with phonological awareness (e.g. the ability to	07.970	10.770	13.170
	hear and manipulate sounds in language) (True)			
19	Dyslexia is characterized by difficulties in	67.2%	19.9%	12.9%
17.	learning to read fluently (True)	0,.2,0	19.970	12.970
20	Dyslexia usually lasts a long time (True)	64 5%	8.6%	26.9%
20.	The brains of people with dyslexia are different	61.3%	19.9%	18.8%
21.	from those of people without dyslexia. (True)	011270	19.970	10.070
22	Administering an individual reading test is	60.7%	16.4%	23.0%
	essential in diagnosing dyslexia. (True)	00.,,,0	10.170	20.070
23	Many students with dyslexia continue to have	59.5%	23.2%	17.3%
201	reading problems as adults. (True)	0,0,0		1,10,0
24.	Modelling fluent reading is often used as a	58.2%	17.4%	24.5%
	teaching technique. (True)			
25.	Dyslexia is hereditary. (True)	51.1%	19.9%	29.0%
26.	Most studies indicate that about 5% of school-age	43.5%	10.8%	45.7%
-	students have dyslexia. (True)			
27.	Reversing letters and words is the main	41.0%	47.3%	11.7%
	characteristic of dyslexia. (False)			
28.	Multisensory instruction has been shown to be an	38.8%	34.2%	27.8%
	ineffective teaching method for treating dyslexia.			
	(False)			
		38.5%	14.4%	47.1%



	29. Dyslexia is more frequent in males than in				
	females. (True)	36.8%	41.1%	22.2%	
	30. Dyslexia refers to a relatively chronic condition				
	that usually cannot be completely overcome.				
	(True)				
	31. Problems in establishing laterality (body schema)	35.3%	11.4%	47.1%	
	are the cause of dyslexia. (False)				
	32. Dyslexia is caused by visual perception deficits	29.6%	59.7%	10.8%	
	resulting in reversals of letters and words. (False)				
	33. Most children with dyslexia usually have	29.4%	48.7%	21.9%	
	emotional and/or social problems. (True)				
	34. Children with dyslexia can be helped by using	22.6%	44.6%	32.8%	
	colored lenses/overlays. (False)				
	35. Students who have reading disabilities without an	19.4%	57.0%	23.7%	
	apparent cause (e.g., intellectual disabilities,				
	absenteeism, inadequate instruction) are				
	referred to as dyslexic. (True)				
36	. Intelligence tests are useful in identifying	17.1%	65.2%	17.6%	
	dyslexia. (True)				

*Parentheses identify correct and incorrect answers. n=186

Research Question Two

Data from 210 teacher-responses on the *Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia Survey* was analyzed to answer research question two, "what are some barriers that influence education of students with dyslexia within the IB classroom?" This research question crosses all of Brofenbrenner's interdependent systems in Ecological Systems Theory. Some of the barriers looked specifically at teacher activities and roles, which would be considered the microsystem (Brofenbrenner, 1979). Other barriers analyzed school-wide issues, which could be considered the mesosystem. Finally, other analyses looked at IB-wide and cultural issues, which is considered the exosystem or macrosystem. While Brofenbrenner classifies each of these as separate, many of the barriers, such as special education labelling cross boundaries.

Of all the participants, only 33.6% of participants reported that the country where their school was located possessed national policies and/or laws to help students with



special needs. Of all respondents, 30.8% reported that their school's country did not have special education policies/laws, and 33.7% of participants stated that they were not sure if a national policy existed. While the International Baccalaureate encourages schools to include all students (International Baccalaureate, 2016), twenty-three percent of participants reported that students could be declined entrance to their school as a result of academic abilities.

Table seven includes frequency data from part one of the *Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia Survey* that analyzed whether teachers reported that they have access to various supports, skills, policies, and special education labels. While 74.9% of respondents stated that their school used labels (i.e., special needs, special education, learning disabled, autism, dyslexia) to describe some students' academic needs, only 33.5% stated that the teachers in their school had an agreed-upon shared definition of dyslexia. Even though the IB states that schools should develop learning plans for students, only 50.2% of participants reported that their schools have guidelines and procedures how to do this. Furthermore, 47.8% of respondents stated that they were unsure if the IB had policies to support students with dyslexia. While 71.6% of respondents stated that their school had access to support service personnel to help students, only 17.1% of participants stated that teachers had any specialized training.



	Responses on	Teacher E:	xperiences	and Perce	ptions of	f Dys	slexia S	Survey:	Have
--	--------------	------------	------------	-----------	-----------	-------	----------	---------	------

Part One Questions	Yes	No	Don't
			Know
1. My school has access to support service personnel to help	71.6%	21.3%	6.6%
students with reading difficulties, including dyslexia.			
2. Some students at my school are identified as dyslexic.	75.4%	7.6%	16.1%
3. My school has specific guidelines and procedures regarding how to help with students with reading difficulties.	50.2%	39.3%	10.0%
4. Classroom teachers in my school have specialized training to help students with reading difficulties, including dyslexia.	17.1%	74.2%	8.6%
5. Teachers in my school have a shared definition of the word dyslexia.	33.5%	53.1%	13.4%
6. My school uses labels (i.e. special needs, special education, learning disabled, dyslexic, autism, dyslexia, ADHD) to describe some students' academic difficulties.	74.9%	21.8%	.9%
7. In order to help students with dyslexia, I have specialized training.	34.0%	65.1%	1.0%
8. My school has specialized, high-quality material resources to help students with reading difficulties, including dyslexia.	33.8%	55.7%	10.5%
9. The International Baccalaureate has specific policies and guidelines to support students with dyslexia.	24.9%	27.3%	47.8%
10. The country where my school is located has a national policy and/or laws on how to help students with special needs, including but not limited to issues like dyslexia and/or reading difficulties.	35.6%	30.8%	33.7%
11. Students can be declined entrance to your school because of academic abilities, including but not limited to dyslexia.	23.4%	61.7%	14.8%

n=210

Table 8 displays data that analyzed teacher perceived need of the supports, skills and special education labels described in part one of *Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia Survey*. Only 28.2% of respondents stated that they felt completely prepared to help students with dyslexia. Of respondents, 71.1% stated that they did not feel that the International Baccalaureate policies and guidelines to support students with dyslexia were adequate. Meanwhile, 92.8% of respondents reported that



difficulties improve educational performance, 75.1% of teachers felt a specific label of

dyslexia impacts educational services, with 88% stating that a shared definition is

important. Sixty-nine percent of teachers answered that special education labels, in

general, help provide quality educational services to children.

Table 8

Responses on Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia Survey: Need

Part Two Ouestions	Yes	No
1. Having reading support service personnel improves educational	96.7%	2.9%
outcomes for students with reading problems, including dyslexia.		-
2. A specific label of "dyslexia" impacts the educational services	75.1%	24.9%
that a student receives.		
3. School-wide specific policies and guidelines that describe	92.8%	7.2%
how to help students with reading difficulties improves education		
for students.		
4. Classroom teachers at my school have adequate specialized	17.3%	82.7%
training to help students with reading difficulties, including		
dyslexia.		
5. Having an agreed-upon definition of dyslexia improves	88.0%	12.0%
educational services.		
6. A special education or special needs label (i.e. special needs,	69.2%	30.8%
special education, learning disabled, dyslexic, autism, dyslexia,		
ADHD) helps provide quality educational services to a child.		
7. I feel completely prepared to help students with dyslexia in my	28.2%	71.8%
school.		
8. Specialized high-quality material resources for students with	95.2%	4.8%
reading problems, including dyslexia, improves educational		
outcomes for these students.		
9. The International Baccalaureate policies and guidelines to	28.9%	71.1%
support students with dyslexia are adequate.		
n=210		

To further analyze results, each question on the Teacher Experiences and

Perceptions of Dyslexia survey was paired. Questions on part two analyzed teacher need

of a particular skill, knowledge, or resource, while questions on part one analyzed

whether teachers possessed this same skill, knowledge or resource. Paired items where

teachers reported that they needed a particular skill, resource, knowledge or support, but



did not have it were labelled educational barriers. Table nine presents frequency counts

for educational barriers for all the paired items.

Table 9

IB Teacher-Perceived Educational Barriers to Instructing Students with Dyslexia

Question Pair	Educational	Not a Barrier
	Barrier	
Classroom teachers possess adequate training	74.9%	25.1%
Specialized school materials for dyslexia	62.1%	37.9%
Adequate personal training	59.7%	40.3%
IB has policies and guidelines to adequately support	59.7%	40.3%
students with dyslexia		
Teachers have shared definition of dyslexia	58.8%	41.2%
School has educational guidelines and policies to help	44.1%	55.9%
students with dyslexia		
Access to support services	25.6%	74.4%
Label of dyslexia used at school	17.5%	82.5%
Educational labels used at school to describe	13.3%	86.7%
disabilities		
<u></u>		

n=211

Lack of adequate teacher preparation to help students with dyslexia was the greatest perceived barrier. 74.9% participants reported that lack-of-general-education-staff-dyslexia training posed a barrier: only 21.07% of participants reported that their classroom teachers have adequate preparation to help students with dyslexia. Lack of personal training for dyslexia also created a barrier for 59.7% of participants. When further analyzed, only 34% of the participants reported that they personally had adequate training to help students with dyslexia.

Lack of specialized school materials was another frequently perceived barrier. 62.1% participants reported that they needed specialized materials but did not have them. By contrast, access to support personnel was not a perceived barrier, with 82.5% of respondents stating that access to support personnel to help students with dyslexia was



not a barrier. Further analysis revealed that 72.2% of schools already had specialized support personnel to help students with dyslexia. 97.1% of participants reported that this support is needed.

Lack of IB policies and guidelines posed another perceived barrier to instruction for 59.7% of participants. When further analyzed, only 28.7% felt that no specific IB policy for special education was needed, while 69.2% felt it was needed. Several paired questions analyzed the use of special education labels. Question two specifically analyzed whether or not schools used the specific label of dyslexia. Seventy six percent of participants responded that their school already used the label of dyslexia for their students, and 82.5% of participants reported that having access to a label of dyslexia was not a barrier. However, on question five, 58.8% teachers reported that the lack of a shared teacher definition of the label dyslexia did present an educational barrier.

Several paired questions analyzed the use of special-education labels. Question two analyzed whether or not schools used the specific label of dyslexia. 76% of participants responded that their school already used the label of dyslexia for their students, and 82.5% of participants reported that having access to a label of dyslexia was not a barrier. However, on question five, 58.8% of teachers reported that the lack of a shared-teacher definition of dyslexia did present an educational barrier.

Questions six on parts one and two analyzed the use of special-education labels in general. In part one of the survey, question six assessed whether participants' schools used labels such as special needs, special education, learning-disabled, autism, dyslexia, and ADHD to describe students' learning difficulties. 80% of teachers reported that their schools already used labels. Question six in part two asked whether teachers found these



labels necessary to help provide quality educational services to children. 70% percent of participants reported that special-education labels are necessary to improve services for students with special-education needs. Only 9% of participants replied that their school did not use labels: those participants did not think labels were necessary. As a result, use of educational labels in general created a barrier for 13.3% of participants.

Research Question Three

To answer the two-part research question three, an ordinary-least-squares-linear regression was first conducted to assess whether teacher knowledge about dyslexia predicted the overall number of perceived barriers for working with students with dyslexia. This research question analyzed the interconnection of all the systems within Ecological Systems Theory (Brofenbrenner, 1994; Brofenbrenner & Morris, 2006; Ettekal & Mahoney, 2016). Teacher knowledge could be considered the microsystem level. Then, analyses were conducted to determine if teacher knowledge within the microsystem influenced barriers across all the other systems. The independent variable was the summed raw score from correct teacher responses, as measured by the *Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale (KBDDS)*. The dependent variable was the number of educational barriers identified on the *Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia* survey. Results are found in Table 10 below. No statistically significant relationship was found.



www.manaraa.com

Results from Linear Regression Analysis Examining how KBDSS Scores Relate to Perceived Number of Educational Barriers

Predictor	Coefficient	SE	p-value
Summed Score of KBDSS	.598	.071	.063
* $n < 0.05$: N= 211: R ² = 021			

To further analyze research question three and determine if knowledge of dyslexia predicted quality of perceived barriers, binary logistic regressions were completed with each barrier. Given that I hypothesized that more knowledge of dyslexia would lead to increases in some barriers and decreases in others, additional analyses were conducted to test this. Similar to the first part of this question, this second part of the question also looked to see if teacher knowledge within the microsystem of Ecological Systems Theory influenced barriers across all the other systems. The independent variable was again the sum of raw scores from the KBDDS. The dependent variables were the binary educational barrier or not barrier identified from the Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia Survey. Results are found in Table 11. A statistically significant relationship was found between KBDSS score and perceived educational barrier for adequate personal dyslexia training, $x^2(1) = 21.53$, p<.000. Increasing the score on the KBDSS by 1 was associated with a 14.3% decrease in the likelihood that teachers identified their own personal lack of dyslexia training as a barrier to educating students (odds ratio=.857). There were no statistically significant relationships identified between KBDSS score and the other barriers.



Results from Binary Logistic Regression Analyses Examining how KBDSS Scores

Barriers	Access to Support Services	Label of Dyslexia Used	School Guidelines	Classroom Teacher Dyslexia Training	Teacher Shared Definition Dyslexia
	Coef./OR	Coef./OR	Coef./OR	Coef./OR	Coef./OR
	(SE)	(SE)	(SE)	(SE)	(SE)
KBDSS Sum Score	04/.98 (0.32)	01/.99 (.04)	.023/1.02 (.03)	07/.94 (.04)	01/.99 (.03)
Barriers	School	Personal	Specialized	IB Policies for	
	Uses	Dyslexia	School	Dyslexia	
	Labels	Training	Materials	Adequate	
	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	
KBDSS	04/.97	16/.86	05/.95	.04/1.04	
Sum	(.041)	(.04)*	(.03)	(.03)	

Relate to Perceived Number of Educational Barriers

*p<0.05; N= 211, OR=odds ratio

In order to explore whether teacher education levels influenced perceived number of barriers, first an ordinary least squares linear regression was completed. The independent variable was a teacher education level, coded into a binary option of secondary school/bachelors or masters/PhD. The dependent variable was sum number of educational barriers. As displayed in Table 12, no statistically significant relationship was identified between teacher education level and for the sum total of educational barriers. However, it was approaching significance.



Results from Linear Regression Analysis Examining How Teacher Education Relates to

Perceived Number of Educational Barriers

Predictor	Coefficient	SE	p-value
Binary Teacher Education Level	508	.30	.094
*p<0.05; N=186; R ² =.015			

In order to further explore whether more teacher education predicted the

likelihood of increases or decreases to some barriers, additional logistic regressions were

completed. Table 13 displays the results.

Table 13

Results from Binary Logistic Regression Analyses Examining How Overall Teacher-

Education Level Relates to the Perceived Number of Educational Barriers

Barriers	Access to Support Services	Label of Dyslexia Used	School Guidelines	Classroom Teacher Dyslexia Training	Teacher Shared Definition Dyslexia
	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)
Teacher Education Level	08/.92 (0.35)	.36/1.48 (.41)	22/.80 (.31)	-1.32/.27 (.45)*	13/.87 (.31)
Barriers	School Uses Labels	Personal Dyslexia Training	Specialized School Materials	IB Policies for Dyslexia Adequate	
	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	Coef./OR (SE)	
Teacher Education Level	-18.27/.90 (.46)	1.16/.31 (.34)*	-03/1.03 (.32)	.02/1.01 (.31)	

*p<0.05; N= 186, OR=odds ratio

Two statistically significant relationships were identified. As participant

education level increased from secondary school/bachelors to masters/PhD, the likelihood



that participants identified lack of adequate training as a barrier decreased. First, the logistic model that analyzed whether lack of classroom teacher preparation was a barrier was statistically significant, $x^2=10.44$, p<.001. Having a master's degree or higher was associated with a 73.2% decrease in the likelihood that teachers reported lack of proper training as a barrier for classroom teachers (odds ratio=.27). Likewise, the coefficient for increased barriers for personal preparation was also statistically significant $x^2=12.76$, p<.000. Having a masters' degree or higher was associated with a 68.8% decrease in the likelihood that participants reported lack of personal dyslexia training as an educational barrier for helping students with dyslexia (odds ratio=.31).

Summary

Results for the first research question indicate that what IB teachers know about dyslexia is variable. The majority of participants, for instance, recognized that dyslexia is real and reported that accommodations for students with dyslexia are fair. On the other hand, there were also many misconceptions about dyslexia. Many research-participants erroneously believed that dyslexia is caused by visual problems. There were also other misconceptions about dyslexia's causes and treatments.

Analysis of research question two identified a number of potential barriers to educating IB PYP students with dyslexia. The most frequently reported barrier was lack of adequate teacher preparation. The next most reported barrier was lack of specialized school materials to help students with dyslexia. Participants also reported that lack of specific IB special-education policies and guidelines posed another barrier. Access to support personnel and special-education labels presented less of a challenge. Many



teachers reported that their schools use a specific label of dyslexia, and others reported that lack of a shared teacher definition of this word did present a barrier.

Research question three analyzed whether teacher knowledge, including knowledge about dyslexia and teacher education level, predicted perceived barriers of working with students with dyslexia. Neither teacher knowledge of dyslexia nor teacher education level created significantly more barriers to education. Increased teacher knowledge of dyslexia reduced the likelihood that teachers identified personal lack of dyslexia training as an educational barrier. As overall teacher education level increased, the likelihood that participants reported adequate training was a barrier to educating students with dyslexia also decreased.



CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Summary and Discussion

The International Baccalaureate (IB) school system encourages inclusion of all students through use of instructional approaches such as universal design for learning (Ralabate, 2011; Rose & Meyer, 2006), differentiation (International Baccalaureate, 2016; Tomilnson & Cunninghamm, 2003) and identification of barriers to instruction (International Baccalaureate, 2016). However, at this time there is limited research examining potential barriers to instruction for students with disabilities, in particular dyslexia. Thus, in this current study, I sought to provide preliminary insight into potential difficulties that IB Primary Years Program (PYP) teachers might be facing when instructing students with dyslexia using Ecological Systems Theory to frame the research (Brofenbrenner, 1994; Brofenbrenner & Morris, 2006). This chapter summarizes and discusses the study's findings in accordance with the research questions presented. Potential implications for educational practice are described. In addition, limitations and recommendations for further research are also included.

The first question of this research study analyzed what IB PYP teachers knew about dyslexia. This information could be considered the microsystem under Ecological Systems Theory. Despite reports that many countries in the world still consider dyslexia a myth (Cassidy et al., 2020; Mather et al., 2020), 96.2% of participants in this study reported that dyslexia does indeed exist, with 95.2% reporting that "children with dyslexia are not lazy or unintelligent. Being knowledgeable about dyslexia can help them." The IB organization calls IB PYP teachers to differentiate for students with special needs (International Baccalaureate, 2016). Results of this study indicate that a majority of IB PYP teachers believe in the merits of providing accommodations to students with dyslexia.



On the other hand, IB PYP teachers also had many misconceptions about dyslexia. In accordance with many past studies that have shown that teachers frequently attribute the cause of dyslexia to visual deficits (Hudson et al., 2007; Wadlington & Wadlington, 2005; Washburn et al., 2011, Yin et al., 2020), one of the most frequently reported misconception was that dyslexia is caused by visual perceptual problems, with 70.5% of teachers reporting that visual perceptual deficits, including letter reversals, cause dyslexia. An additional 77.4% of the participants incorrectly reported that color overlays either do or might help students with dyslexia. Even though neuroscientists have widely documented that dyslexia has both genetic and neurobiological markers (Becker et al., 2017; Fuchs et al., 2017; Eckert, 2004; Gialluisi et al., 2019), 45.7% of participants in this study didn't know if dyslexia was hereditary, and 31.9% of participants either didn't know or didn't think dyslexia was neurologically based.

It is also widely documented that dyslexia is a language-based disorder, which is characterized by poor phonological processing (Lyon et al., 2003; Snowling, 2000; Perfett et al., 2019; Torgeson et al., 1997; Vellutino et al, 2004. Wagner et al., 1997). While many participants in this study recognized that structured, sequential skills were needed to help students with dyslexia, 31.7% either reported that they didn't know if children with dyslexia had phonological problems or they didn't think this was a problem.

The second research question in this study analyzed IB PYP teacher-perceived barriers to instructing students with dyslexia. Results could be placed across all layers of the Ecological Systems Theory, as some barriers directly related to individual teachers, while other questions analyzed school-wide and IB/system-wide issues. Using a two-part survey, teachers were first asked to identify skills, policies, and knowledge that they have about dyslexia. Then, they were asked to identify their needs in the same areas. Using paired questions from both parts of the survey, barriers to instruction were identified



based on questions where teachers stated they needed a skill, policy, or knowledge, but did not have it.

Using Ecological Systems Theory as a guide to analysis (Bronfenbrenner, 1994; Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006; Ettekal & Mahoney, 2016), the most commonly identified barrier was at the microsystem level (Bronfenbrenner, 1979), or level of individual teacher. Of all participants, 74.9% reported that lack of classroom teacher knowledge about dyslexia created a barrier to instruction, with 71.8% of participants reporting that they themselves do not have adequate preparation to help students with dyslexia. This finding is in accordance with several past studies that have demonstrated teachers globally lack adequate training to help students with dyslexia (Knight, 2018; Mather et al., 2020; Soriano-Ferrer et al., 2016; Stark et al., 2016; Washburn et al., 2016; Washburn et al., 2017; Wong, 2020; Worthy et al., 2016; Yin, 2020; Zhao et al., 2016). This is problematic because if specific training is not available, learning from practice is often a major source of knowledge about dyslexia (Knight, 2018; Yin, 2020). With so many teachers reporting that treatments such as visual overlays helps students, lack of training perpetuates myths.

The next most common barriers were at the mesosystem level (Bronfenbrenner, 1979), or school-wide level. While 71.6% of participants reported that their school had access to support personnel to help students with reading difficulties including dyslexia, 95.2% stated that their schools did not possess specialized high-quality instructional material for students with dyslexia. As a result, lack of specialized school materials created the second most frequently reported barrier to instructing students with dyslexia. This finding is in accordance with recent studies by both Cassidy et al. (2020) and Mather (2020) that reported resources for dyslexia are not allocated equitably across countries. Another barrier reported by 44.1% of participants was lack of school educational guidelines and policies to help students with dyslexia. While the IB encourages schools to develop individualized learning plans for students (International Baccalaureate, 2016),



only 50.2% of participants reported that their schools actually has specific guidelines and policies for special education, with 92.8% reporting that specific guidelines and procedures are necessary to improve education for students with reading difficulties. This notion is supported by research that shows positive correlations between special education policies and student achievement (Schwartz et al., 2019; Hanushek et al., 2002)

At the macrosystem level (Bronfenbrenner, 1979) or greater community and cultural level, lack of specific IB special education policies created another barrier to instruction. At this time, the IB encourages schools to use concepts such as Universal Design for Learning (UDL) (International Baccalaureate, 2016; Rao et al., 2016) and differentiation (International Baccalaureate, 2016; Tomilson & Cunningham, 2003). However, there are no specific policies or guidelines for special education (Pletser, 2016). Instead, schools are encouraged to put the concepts of UDL and differentiation into practice by using the school context, culture, and national legislation from the school's country (IB Community Blog, 2019). However, 64.5% of participants either didn't know or didn't think the country where their school was located had any national policy. Furthermore, the IB states that all students should be included in instruction (IB Community Blog, 2019). However, 23.4% of participants reported that students can be denied entrance to their school as a result of academic abilities. Potentially as a result of these mismatches, 59.7% of participants reported that lack of specific IB policies and guidelines created a barrier to instruction for students with dyslexia, with over 71.1% of participants reporting that IB special education policies were not sufficient.

As a language-mediated, meaning making system, the concept of special education labels is highly influenced by culture (Agosto et al., 2017). As a result, special education labels intersect the micro, meso, and macrosystem levels. At this time, the IB does not recommend using special education labels (International Baccalaureate Community Blog, 2015). The concept of labelling is also controversial around the world, with some feeling that labels have negative repercussions (Boyle, 2007; Cuttler &


Ryckmann, 2018; Ellliot 2020; Osterholm et al., 2007; Shifrer, 2013), and others reporting that labels support quality special education services (Gallagher, 1976; Gwernan-Jones & Burden, 2010; Lindstrom, 2019; Riddick, 2000) and increase recognition that dyslexia is a neurologically-based disorder (Centanni, 2020; Camilleri et al., 2020). In this study, participants generally viewed labels positively, with 70% of participants reporting that special education labels, including dyslexia, are necessary to improve services for students with dyslexia. In addition, 80% of participant schools already use some form of special education labels. However, 66.5% of participants reported that the teachers at their school either didn't share the same definition of dyslexia, or the participants reported that lack of shared definition for dyslexia created an instructional barrier. With various organizations and countries defining dyslexia differently (Gabor, 2010; Mather et al., 2020), this lack of shared definition has also been documented as barrier for instruction in other educational settings (Broadbent, 2018; Wagner et al., 2019).

The final research question in this study analyzed if teacher knowledge, including knowledge about dyslexia and overall teacher education level, predicted the number and quality of teacher-perceived instructional barriers. As with the second research question, this information also crossed various layers of Ecological Systems Theory. Considering the success of any special education program often relies on the buy-in of skilled teachers (Yadav et al., 2015; Woodcock & Woolfson, 2019), it was important to determine if teachers with more knowledge and education viewed barriers differently than participants with less knowledge and education. Results from various regressions indicated that generally, teachers who knew more about dyslexia and/or had more advanced educational barriers than the rest of the participants. However, having more knowledge about dyslexia reduced the likelihood that teachers identified lack of personal dyslexia training



as a barrier to educating students with dyslexia. In addition, having a masters' degree or higher was also associated with a decrease in the likelihood that participants reported lack of dyslexia training as an educational barrier. These finding are supported by past researchers who have shown that additional teacher training increases teacher confidence and skills in working with students with dyslexia (Echegaray-Bengoa et al., 2016; Knight, 2018).

Limitations

While this study provided important descriptive information that was not previously known, it also had limitations. First, I used a combination of convenience and snowball sampling technique with several Facebook groups, Twitter, and an IB LinkedIn group. As a result, the participants may have represented a skewed sample of teachers who are concerned with dyslexia procedures at their school.

In addition, the geographical bounds of this type of sampling method were not well-drawn. While participants from across six continents and 52 different countries responded to the survey, some countries had more representation than others. I reported the demographic information in the study, in order to help readers consider the generalizability of the results.

Another limitation to this study was the methodological approach. This study took a purely quantitative approach to data collection. The KBDSS tool, for example, utilized a true/false/I don't know format. As a result, nuanced, qualitative explanations of surveyed barriers were not addressed in this particular study. In addition, there may have been other issues that create barriers to education that are not included in the utilized surveys. A further limitation included the research design. The methodology in this research included correlational design. As a result, cause and effect relationships cannot be assessed. Additionally, it is possible that only some of the relevant variables were measured and that the variables did not cause the other (Stangor, 2011).



Implications and Future Research

In order to provide quality services to students with special needs, the IB system encourages schools to identify barriers to learning (IB Community Blog, 2019). If schools fail to identify and remove barriers, the IB states that inclusion can be impeded (International Baccalaureate Community Blog, 2019). At this time, there are only a few other studies analyzing special education supports and barriers within the IB system. A 2016 study by Rao identified that IB teachers need more time and knowledge to best implement the IB suggested practices of Universal Design for Learning. At the high school IB level, Dulfer (2019) similarly showed that IB diploma program teachers struggled with providing high quality inclusion supports. Chiller et al. (2016) also reported that lack of resources and support created barriers to inclusion within their study. The results of this study, supported by the results of these other studies, suggest that the International Baccalaureate should invest more resources into special needs professional development programs for teachers. This study also supports the idea that increased teacher education may result in teachers feeling more confident, and result in fewer barriers to instructing students with dyslexia. In addition, the IB system might consider re-examining their policies and guidelines for special education, as so many participants in this study reported that lack of specific policies created barriers for instructing their students with dyslexia.

Despite advocacy and international agreements going back decades, high quality education for students with disabilities continues to be a globally problematic area, with little change (Cassidy et al., 2020, Hernandez-Torrano, 2020; Kiru & Cooc, 2018). With schools in more than 158 countries worldwide, the IB is positioned to become a world



leader in modelling best practice policies for dyslexia. Increasing focus on teacherdyslexia trainings, creating a shared definition of dyslexia, and outlining more specific policies to protect the rights of students with dyslexia might be first steps in this direction.

This study identified that IB PYP teachers lack knowledge and training about dyslexia. The teachers recognize that this is a need, and they feel that specialized training is important to help their students. As a result, it is suggested that future research analyze different methods for providing teacher dyslexia trainings.

This study also documented that IB PYP teachers feel the IB needs more structured policy and guidelines for students with special education. At the same time, many schools are already using some sort of policy. Future research might delve further into what specific policies and guidelines IB PYP teachers would find most helpful. For example, would providing an IB global shared definition bank for disabilities such as dyslexia, autism, ADHD, be sufficient? Or do IB PYP teachers want more specific protocols to follow in order to provide quality special education services? Another direction might be to explore the connection of currently used IB PYP student special education labels to the impact on student academic, social, and emotional success.

This study also showed that increased teacher knowledge of dyslexia and higher teacher education level both decreased the likelihood that teachers perceived adequate training as a barrier. A more thorough qualitative or mixed methods study might also analyze if these perceptions are accurate.



APPENDIX A

IRB Informed Consent

Are you an International Baccalaureate (IB) Primary Years Teacher (PYP)? If yes, I'm looking for your insights on students with dyslexia.

My name is Jennifer Preschern. I'm a past IB PYP teacher from the USA with over 20 years working with students with various learning needs. While teaching in an IB school, I wanted to know: How could I better support my PYP students with reading difficulties? On a bigger scale, how are other IB PYP teachers supporting students with dyslexia? I couldn't find adequate answers to these questions in educational research. Therefore, I decided to pursue a PhD myself in order to investigate. I hope that you will consider taking part in this survey research, which is part of my dissertation project at St. John's University in New York.

The goal of my study is to investigate places where we can improve educational services for students with dyslexia within our IB community.

Some information about this survey:

1. It's anonymous. Confidentiality of your research records will be strictly maintained. No personal names, including school name, or other identifying information will be collected in this study. No internet user ID numbers will be collected.

2. I will not try to sell you anything. There are no known risks associated with your participation in this research beyond those of everyday life. You have the right to skip or not answer any questions you prefer not answer.

3. The survey should take about 10 minutes.

It has three parts:



- The first part seeks to uncover your feelings about services for students with dyslexia at your school.
- The second part is a scale developed by Soriano-Ferrer & Enchegaray-Bengoa (2016) called *Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale (KBDDS)*.
- The third part asks some questions about you. The demographic data will used in the analysis of the results. For example, where is your school located? This will help identify any potential differences between countries.

4. Unfortunately, I can't pay you for your time. However, once you complete the

study, I will provide you with answers to the KBDSS scale. I will also give you an

internet link to a free online dyslexia professional development course.

If there is anything about the study or your participation that is unclear or that you do not understand, if you have questions or wish to report a research-related problem, please contact me:

Jennifer Preschern, Jennifer.preschern18@my.stjohns.edu or you can also contact my faculty sponsor, Kyle Cook, CookK@stjohns.edu

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you can contact the University's Institutional Review Board, St. John's University, Dr. Raymond DiGiuseppe, Chair digiuser@stjohns.edu 718-990-1955 or Marie Nitopi, IRB Coordinator, nitopim@stjohns.edu 718-990-1440.

Thank you for your consideration. I hope we can work together to create the best possible

supports for all our IB PYP students globally.

Before you take the survey, I need your permission to use your answers on the survey in my research. If you agree to participate in this research, please click I AGREE.

- 🖲 I agree.
- ^O I disagree.



APPENDIX B Survey of Teacher Experiences and Perceptions of Dyslexia

These first questions ask about policy, services, and procedures at your school. 1. My school has access to support service personnel to help students with reading difficulties, including dyslexia. *(Yes/No/Don't Know)*

2. Some students at my school are identified as dyslexic. (Yes/No/Don't Know)

3. My school has specific guidelines and procedures regarding how to help with students with reading difficulties. (*Yes/No/Don't Know*)

4. Classroom teachers in my school have specialized training to help students with reading difficulties, including dyslexia. *(Yes/No/Don't Know)*

5. Teachers in my school have a shared definition of the word dyslexia.

(Yes/No/Don't Know)

6. My school uses labels (i.e., special needs, special education, learning disabled, dyslexic, autism, dyslexia, ADHD) to describe some students' academic difficulties. *(Yes/No/Don't Know)*

7. In order to help students with dyslexia, I have specialized training. (Yes/No/Don't Know)

8. My school has specialized, high-quality material resources to help students with reading difficulties, including dyslexia. *(Yes/No/Don't Know)*

9. The International Baccalaureate has specific policies and guidelines to support students with dyslexia. (Yes/No/Don't Know)

10. The country where my school is located has a national policy and/or laws on how to help students with special needs, including but not limited to issues like dyslexia and/or reading difficulties. *(Yes/No/Don't Know)*



11. Students can be declined entrance to my school because of academic abilities, including but not limited to dyslexia. (*Yes/No/Don't Know*)

These questions ask for your personal opinion.

1. Having reading support service personnel improves educational outcomes for students with reading problems, including dyslexia. *(Yes/No)*

2. A specific label of "dyslexia" impacts the educational services that a student receives. *(Yes/No)*

3. School-wide specific policies and guidelines that describe how to help students with reading difficulties improves education for students. *(Yes/No)*

4. Classroom teachers at my school have adequate specialized training to help students with reading difficulties, including dyslexia. *(Yes/No)*

5. Having an agreed-upon definition of dyslexia improves educational services. *(Yes/No)*

6. A special education or special needs label (i.e. special needs, special education, learning disabled, dyslexic, autism, dyslexia, ADHD) helps provide quality educational services to a child. *(Yes/No)*

I feel completely prepared to help students with dyslexia in my school. (Yes/No)
 Specialized high-quality material resources for students with reading problems, including dyslexia, improves educational outcomes for these students. (Yes/No)
 The International Baccalaureate policies and guidelines to support students with dyslexia are adequate. (Yes/No)



APPENDIX C

Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia Scale (KBDDS)

Soriano-Ferrer, M., Echegaray-Bengoa, J., & Joshi, R. (2016)

1. Dyslexia is a neurologically-based disorder. True

2. Dyslexia is caused by visual perception deficits resulting in reversals of letters and words. False

3. A child can be dyslexic and gifted. True

4. Most children with dyslexia usually have emotional and/or social problems. True

5. The brains of people with dyslexia are different from those of people without dyslexia. **True**

6. Dyslexia is hereditary. True

7. Most studies indicate that about 5 % of school-age students have dyslexia. True

8. Dyslexia is more frequent in males than in females. True

9. Generally, children with dyslexia have problems with phonological awareness (e.g., the ability to hear and manipulate sounds in language). **True**

10. Modeling fluent reading is often used as a teaching technique. True

11. People with dyslexia have below-average intelligence. False

12. Students with dyslexia often read with inaccuracy and lack of fluency. True

13. Reversing letters and words is the main characteristic of dyslexia. False

14. Difficulty with phonological processing of information is one of the major deficits found in dyslexia. **True**

15. Intelligence tests are useful in identifying dyslexia. True

16. All poor readers have dyslexia. False

17. Children with dyslexia can be helped by using colored lenses/colored overlays. False

18. Physicians can prescribe medications to help students with dyslexia. False



19. Multisensory instruction has been shown to be an ineffective teaching method for treating dyslexia. False

20. Students who have reading disabilities without an apparent cause (e.g., intellectual disabilities, absenteeism, inadequate instruction) are referred to as dyslexic. **True**

21. Children with dyslexia are not lazy or unintelligent. Being knowledgeable about dyslexia can help them. **True**

22. Giving students with dyslexia accommodations, such as extra time on tasks, shorter spelling lists, special seating close to the teacher, etc., is unfair to other students. **False**

23. Intervention programs that emphasize phonological aspects of language with letters as visual support are effective for students with dyslexia. **True**

24. Most teachers receive specific training to work with dyslexic children. False

25. I think dyslexia is a myth, a problem that does not really exist. False

26. Techniques involving repeated reading of material (e.g., words, sentences or texts) help to improve reading fluency. **True**

27. Problems in establishing laterality (body schema) are the cause of dyslexia. False

28. Students with dyslexia need structured, sequential, direct instruction in basic skills and learning strategies. **True**

29. Dyslexia refers to a relatively chronic condition that usually cannot be completely overcome. **True**

30. Many students with dyslexia continue to have reading problems as adults. True

31. Many students with dyslexia have low self-esteem. True

32. Children with dyslexia have problems with decoding and spelling, but not with listening comprehension. **True**

33. Administering an individual reading test is essential in diagnosing dyslexia. True

34. Children with dyslexia generally tend to be poor spellers. True

35. Dyslexia usually lasts a long time. True

36. Dyslexia is characterized by difficulties in learning to read fluently. True



APPENDIX D

Survey Demographic Questions

- 1. What gender do you identify with?
 - Male
 - Female
 - Non-binary
 - Prefer not to say

2. How old are you? (Fill in blank)

- 3. What is your highest level of education?
 - Secondary school
 - Bachelor's degree
 - Master's degree
 - PhD degree
 - Other

4. How many years have you been teaching overall? (in any formal school-capacity) Fill in blank)

5. How many years of experience do you have teaching within the IB program? (Fill in blank)

- 6. What is your experience teaching students with dyslexia? (Click all that apply)
 - I have never taught a student with dyslexia
 - I have taught classes with some students with dyslexia.
 - I have taught special classes for students with dyslexia.
 - I have taught small group, specialized (less than 5 students) reading sessions for students with dyslexia.

7. In what country is your current school? (Drop down menu with choice of countries)

8. In what country is your primary citizenship? (Drop down menu with choice of countries)

9. Can students be declined entrance to your school because of academic abilities, including but not limited to dyslexia? (yes/no)



REFERENCES

- Aboud, K.S., Barquero, L.A., Cutting, L.E. (2018). Prefrontal mediation of the reading network predictions intervention response in dyslexia. *Cortex*, 101, 96-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2018.01.009
- Agosto, N., Soto-Crespo, J., Vizcarrondo-Oppenheimer, M., Vega-Molina, S. & García-Coll, C. (2017). Bronfenbrenner's bioecological theory revision: moving culture from the macro into the micro. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *12*, 900-910. http://www.doi.org/10.1177/1745691617704397
- Allcock, S.J. & Hulm, J.A. (2010). Learning styles in the classroom: Educational benefit or planning exercise? *Psychology Teaching Review*, 16(2), 67–79.
- Al Otaiba, S., & Petscher, Y. (2020). Including dyslexia, in the context of multitiered supports and response to intervention. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 53(5), 327-331. https://www.doi.org/10.1177/0022219420943691
- Alquraini, T. A., & Rao, S. M. (2020). Assessing teachers' knowledge, readiness, and needs to implement universal design for learning in classrooms in Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 24(1), 103–114. https://www.doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2018.1452298
- Anderson, J. & Shaw, S. (2020). The experiences of medical students and junior doctors with dyslexia: a survey study. *International Journal of Social Sciences & Educational Studies*, 7(1), 62-71. https://www.doi.org/10.23918/ijsses.v7i1p62
- Andrikopoulous, V., Ifanti, A. (2018). Primary teachers' perceptions of professional empowerment: from local context to a global perspective. *Curriculum and Teaching*, 33(1), 5-22. https://doi.org/10.7459/ct/33.1.02



- Baltar, F. & Brunet, F. (2012). Social research 2.0: Virtual snowball sampling method using Facebook. *Internet Research*, 22. https://doi.org/10.1108/106622412111999
- Barnett, E. (2013). Research on the implementation of the Diploma Programme in Ecuador's state schools. National Center for Restructuring Education, Schools, and Teaching, Teachers College. Columbia University. https://www.tc.columbia.edu/ncrest/our-work/projects/research-on-theimplementation-of-ib/
- Barone, D. (2011). Case Study Research. In Duke, N., Mallette, M. (Eds). *Literacy Research Methodologies*. Guilford Press.
- Becker, J., Czamara, D., Scerri, T. S., Ramus, F., Csépe, V., Talcott, J. B., Schumacher, J. (2014). Genetic analysis of dyslexia candidate genes in the European cross-linguistic neurodys cohort. *European Journal of Human Genetics: Ejhg*, 22(5), 675–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2013.199
- Beckman, L., Hellström, L., von Kobyletzyki, L. (2019). Cyber bullying among children with neurodevelopmental disorders: A systematic review. *Scandanavian Journal* of Psychology, 61(1). 54 -67. https://www.doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12525
- Binks-Cantrell, E., Washburn, E. K., Joshi, R. M., & Hougen, M. (2012). Peter Effect in the preparation of reading teachers. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 16(6), 526–536. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2011.601434.
- Bittencourt, T. (2020). Inclusive policies and the perils of dissonance: A case study of an International Baccalaureate public school in Ecuador. *FIRE: Forum for International Research in Education*, 6(1). 24-39.



Black, J. M., Xia, Z., & Hoeft, F. (2017). Neurobiological bases of reading disorder part
II: the importance of developmental considerations in typical and atypical
reading. *Language and Linguistics Compass*, 11(10).
https://doi.org/10.1111/lnc3.12252

100001 denoig, 101111, 1100012202

British Broadcast Channel. (2019). Schools failing to diagnose at least 80% of dyslexic pupils. https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-england-50095218

British Dyslexia Association. (n.d.). About Us.

https://www.bdadyslexia.org.uk/about/about-the-british-dyslexia-association

- Boas, M. (2020). One in Five: How We're Fighting for Our Dyslexic Kids in a System That's Failing Them. Tiller Press.
- Bos, C., Mather, N., Dickson, S., Podhajski, B., & Chard, D. (2001). Perceptions and knowledge of preservice and Inservice educators about early reading instruction. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 51, 97–120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-001-0007-0
- Boyle, C. (2007). Is the use of labels in special education helpful? *Support for Learning*, 22(1), 36-42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9604.2007.00443.x
- Broadbent, R. (2018). European Dyslexia Charter. Dyslexia Institute UK. https://www.eppgroup.eu/sites/default/files/attachments/2018/11/europeandyslexia-charter.pdf
- Brown, J., & Bell, S. (2014). Supporting young people with dyslexia in international schools: A case study example of current provision in southeast Asia. *Support for Learning*, 29(2), 154-166. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9604.12054
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The Ecology of Human Development*. Harvard University Press.



- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1994). Ecological models of human development. *Readings on the Development of Children*, 2, 37–43.
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. (2006). The bioecological model of human development. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.). *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development*, 793–828. Wiley.
- Buell, M., Hallam, R., Gamel-Mccormick, M. & Scheer, S. (1999). A survey of general and special education teachers' perceptions and in-service needs concerning inclusion. *International Journal of Disability*, 46(2), 143-156. https://doi.org/10.1080/103491299100597
- Camilleri, S., Chtcuti, D., Falzon, R. (2020). *They labelled me ignorant: the role of neuroscience to support student with a profile of dyslexia*. IOP Publishing.
- Cassidy, J., Ortlieb, E., & Grote-Garcia, S. (2020). What's hot in literacy: New topics and new frontiers are abuzz. *Literacy Research & Instruction*. https://doi.org. 10.1080/19388071.2020.1800202
- Castillo, A., & Gilger, J. (2018). Adult perceptions of children with dyslexia in the
 USA. Annals of Dyslexia: An Interdisciplinary Journal of the International
 Dyslexia Association, 68(3), 203-217. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-018-0163-0
- CAST (2018). Universal Design for Learning Guidelines version 2.2. http://udlguidelines.cast.org
- Centanni T.M. (2020) Neural and Genetic Mechanisms of Dyslexia. In: Argyropoulos
 G. (Eds.) Translational Neuroscience of Speech and Language Disorders.
 Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35687-3_4



- Chae, N. (2020). U.S. High School counselors' experiences of gatekeeping with underrepresented students in the International Baccalaureate Diploma Program.
 (Doctoral Dissertation, William and Mary). https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1649-7985
- China's Law on the Protection of Persons with Disabilities (1990).
 - https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/WEBTEXT/31906/64869/E90CHN01.htm
- Compton, D. L. (2020). Focusing our view of dyslexia through a multifactorial lens: a commentary. *Learning Disability Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.1177/07319487209

Creswell, J. (2015). A Concise Introduction to Mixed Methods. Sage.

- Creswell, J., & Creswell, D. (2018). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Sage.
- Cunningham, A. E., Perry, K. E., Stanovich, K. E., & Stanovich, P. J. (2004). Disciplinary knowledge of K-3 teachers and their knowledge calibration in the domain of early literacy. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 54, 139–167. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11881-004-0007-y
- Cuttler, C., & Ryckman, M. (2018). Don't call me delusional: Stigmatizing effects of noun labels on people with mental disorders. *Stigma and Health Advance*. http://doi.org/10.1037/sah0000132.
- Department of Education. (1994). *The Code of Practice on the Identification and* Assessment of Special Education Needs. London: HMSO.
- Deunk, M., Annemieke, E., Smalle-Jacobse, H., Boer, S., Doolard, R. & Bosker, J.(2018). Effective differentiation Practices: A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies on the cognitive effects of differentiation practices in primary



education. *Educational Research Review*, 24, 31-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2018.02.002

- D'Mello, A. & Gabrieli, J. (2018). Cognitive neuroscience of dyslexia. *Language*, *Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 49, 798-809.
 https://doi.org/10.1044/2018_LSHSS-DYSLC-18-0020.
- Dickman, E. (2017). Do we need a new definition of dyslexia? *International Dyslexia Association*. https://dyslexiaida.org/do-we-need-a-new-definition-of-dyslexia/
- Dobson, G. & Douglas, G. (2020). Who would do that role? Understanding why teachers become SENCos through an ecological systems theory. *Educational Review*, (72)3, 298-318. https://www.doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2018.1556206
- Dreyer, L., Mostert, Y., & Gow, M. A. (2020). The promise of equal education not kept: specific learning disabilities – the invisible disability. *African Journal of Disability*, 9(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.4102/ajod.v9i0.647
- Dyslexia and Literacy International. (n.d.). *Role at UNESCO*. https://www.dyslexia-and-literacy.international/role-at unesco/?doing_wp_cron =1592997330.751413106 9183349609375
- Echegaray-Bengoa, J., Soriano-Ferrer, M., Joshi, R. (2017). Knowledge and beliefs about developmental dyslexia: A comparison between pre-service and in-service Peruvian teachers. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 16(4), 375-389. https://doi.org/10.1177/153819271769759
- Eckert, M. (2004). Neuroanatomical markers for dyslexia: a review of dyslexia structural imaging studies. *The Neuroscientist*, 10(4), 362–371. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1073858404263596



- Elliot, J. (2020). It's time to be scientific about dyslexia. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 55(1), 61-75. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.333
- Ettekal, A. & Mahoney, J. (2017). Ecological Systems Theory.

http://doi.org/10.4135/9781483385198.n94.

European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education. (2018). *European Agency Statistics on Inclusive Education: Methodology Report.* European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education. https://www.europeanagency.org/resources/publications/EASIE-methodology-report-updated-2018

European Dyslexia Association. (n.d.). *History: who we are*. https://www.edainfo.eu/about-the-eda/history.html#:~:text= It%20was%20founded%20and%20legally,Specific%

20Learning%20Difficulties'%20in%20Europe.

- European Dyslexia Association. (2020). An Open Letter to the EU Election Candidates. https://blog.eda-info.eu/2019/05/07/eda-asks-for-an-inclusive-europe/
- Fu, W., Lu, S., Xiao, F., Wang, M. (2020). A social–cultural analysis of the individual education plan practice in special education schools in China. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 66(1). https://www.doi.org/ 10.1080/20473869.2018.1482853
- Fuchs, D., McMaster, K.L., & Kearns, D.M. (2017). Evidence-based interventions for reading disabilities in children and adolescents. In L.A. Theodore (Ed.), *Handbook of Evidence-based Interventions for Children and Adolescents*, 85-97.
 Springer.



- Gabor, G. (2010). Can students with dyslexia be effectively supported in the diversity of an international school setting? *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 10(1), 31–41. https://www.doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-3802.2009.01141.x
- Gaetane, J., Sider, S., Desir, C. (2015). Comparative International Perspectives on Education and Social Change in Developing Countries and Indigenous People in Developed Countries. IAP.
- Gallagher, J (1976). The sacred and profane uses of labels. *Mental Retardation*. 14(6), 3-7.
- Gerber, P. (2001). Learning Disabilities: A lifespan approach. In Hallahan, D., Keogh, B.(Eds). *Research and global perspectives in Learning Disabilities*. Routledge.
- Glass, G., Meyer, A., Rose, D. (2013). Universal Design for Learning and the Arts. *Harvard Educational Review*, 83 (1), 98-119. https://www.hepg.org/herhome/issues/harvard-educational-review-volume-83-number-1/herarticle/_1229
- Gialluisi, A., Andlauer, T. F. M., Mirza-Schreiber, N., Moll, K., Becker, J., Hoffmann,
 P., Schulte-Körne, G. (2019). Genome-wide association scan identifies new
 variants associated with a cognitive predictor of dyslexia. *Translational Psychiatry*, 9(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0402-0
- Gibbs, S. & Elliott, J. (2015). The differential effects of labelling: how do 'dyslexia' and 'reading difficulties' affect teachers' beliefs. *European Journal of Special Needs Education, 30*(3), 323-337. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2015.1022999
- Gibbs, S., Beckmann, J., Elliott, J., Metsäpelto, R., Vehkakoski, T & Aro, M. (2020). What's in a name: the effect of category labels on teachers' beliefs. *European*



Journal of Special Needs Education, 35(1), 115-127.

http://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2019.1652441

- Gwernan-Jones, R., & Burden, R. L. (2010). Are they just lazy? Student teachers' attitudes about dyslexia. *Dyslexia*, 16, 66–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/dys.393.
- Gyoerfi, A & Smythe, I. (2010). Dyslexia in Europe: A Pan European Survey. http://www.doitprofiler.co.za/media/13299/dyslexia_report_2010_final_mep.pdf
- Haldimann, M. (1998). Special learning needs in international schools: The Optimal Match Concept. John Catt Educational, Ltd.
- Hall, J., Elder, T., & Thompson, J. (2009). IBNA-The Primary Years Programme Field Study. Athens: Education and Policy Evaluation Center, University of Georgia.
- Hanushek, E., Kain, J., Rivkin, S. (2002). Inferring program effects for special populations: does special education raise achievement for students with disabilities? *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 84(4), 584-599. https://doi.org/10.1162/003465302760556431
- Hauerwas, L., Mahon, J. (2018). Secondary teachers' experiences with students with disabilities: examining the global landscape international. *Journal of Inclusive Education*, 22(3), 306-322. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2017.1364793
- Hernández-Torrano, D., Somerton, M., & Helmer, J. (2020). Mapping research on inclusive education since Salamanca Statement: a bibliometric review of the literature over 25 years. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 1-20. http://www.doi.org/0.1080/13603116.2020.1747555
- Hoenig, K., Sim, E. J., Bochev, V., Herrnberger, B., & Kiefer, M. (2008). Conceptual flexibility in the human brain: dynamic recruitment of semantic maps from visual,



motor, and motion-related areas. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20(10), 1799-1814. http://www.doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2008.20123

- Hornstra, L, Denessen, E., Bakker, J., van B. L., & Voeten, M. (2010). Teacher attitudes toward dyslexia: effects on teacher expectations and the academic achievement of students with dyslexia. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 43, 515–529. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219409355479
- Huck, S. (2012). Reading Statistics and Research. Pearson.
- Hudson, R. F., High, L., & Al Otaiba, S. (2007). Dyslexia and the brain: What does current research tell us? *The Reading Teacher*, 60, 506–515.
- IB Community Blog. (2019a). Removing barriers to learning: what does inclusion mean for the IB? https://blogs.ibo.org/blog/2019/08/26/removing-barriers-to-learningwhat-does-inclusion-mean-for-the-ib/
- IB Community Blog. (2019b). Inclusion in education involves continuous change, mutual respect, and constant support. https://blogs.ibo.org/blog/2019/08/26/removing-barriers-to-learning-what-does-inclusion-mean-for-the-ib
- IDEA. (n.d.). About IDEA. https://sites.ed.gov/idea/about-idea/

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 (2004).

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (n.d.) https://sites.ed.gov/idea/about-idea/

Indrathne, B. (2019). Accommodating learners with dyslexia in English language teaching in Sri Lanka: Teachers' knowledge, attitudes, and challenges. *TESOL Quarterly*, (93), 630-654. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.500



International Baccalaureate. (2014). Programme Standards and Practices.

https://www.ibo.org/globalassets/publications/become-an-ib-school/programmestandards-and-practices-en.pdf

International Baccalaureate. (2016). Learning diversity and inclusion in

IB programmes. file:///C:/Users/jenpr/Downloads/ib_inclusion_guide%20(2).pdf International Baccalaureate. (2017a). *History of the IB*. https://www.ibo.org/

International Baccalaureate. (2017b). What is the IB?

https://www.ibo.org/globalassets/what-is-an-ib-education-2017-en.pdf

International Baccalaureate. (n.d.). *Become an IB School*. http://www.ibo.org/become-anib-school/how-to-become-an-ib-school/

International Baccalaureate. (n.d.). How the PYP works.

https://www.ibo.org/programmes/primary-years-programme/what-is-the-

pyp/how-the-pyp-works/

- International Baccalaureate. (2019). *Facts and Figures*. https://www.ibo.org/about-theib/facts-and-figures/
- International Baccalaureate Community Blog. (2015). *Why every school should care about inclusive environments*. https://blogs.ibo.org/blog/2015/02/27/inclusiveeducation/

International Baccalaureate Community Blog. (2019). *Inclusive Education: What Does Inclusion mean for the IB*? https://blogs.ibo.org/blog/2019/08/26/removingbarriers-to-learning-what-does-inclusion-mean-for-the-ib/

International Dyslexia Association. (n.d.b). *History of the IDA*.

https://dyslexiaida.org/history-of-the-ida/



Institute for Multisensory Education. (n.d.). History of Orton Gillingham.

https://www.orton-gillingham.com/about-us/orton-gillingham/

- Knight, C. (2018). What is dyslexia? An exploration of the relationship between teachers' understandings of dyslexia and their training experiences. *Dyslexia*, 24(3), 207-219. https://doi.org/10.1002/dys.1593
- Kim, E., Zhang, J., Sun, X. (2019). Comparison of special education in the United States,Korea, and China. *International Journal of Special Education*, 33(4), 796-814.
- Kirby, P. (2019). Literacy, advocacy and agency: The campaign for political recognition of Dyslexia in Britain (1962–1997): Social History of Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1093/shm/hkz030
- Kiru, E., Cooc, N. (2018). A comparative analysis of access to education for students with disabilities in Brazil, Canada, and South Africa. *Journal of International Special Needs Education*, 20(20). 34-44. https://doi.org/15.1352/1934-9556-56.6.471
- Kurth, J. A., Miller, A. L., Toews, S. G., Thompson, J. R., Cortés Mónica, Dahal, M. H., Wangare, F. (2018). Inclusive education: perspectives on implementation and practice from international experts. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 56(6), 471–485. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-56.6.471
- Landi, N., Ashton, G., Coyne-Green, A., Kleinman, D., Sarles-Whittlesey, H., Roberts, P., Blair, N., Pugh, K., & Hoeft, F. (2019). What's the promise of in-school neuroscience? *Examiner*, 8(3), 1-9. https://dyslexiaida.org/the-promise-of-inschool-neuroscience/



Leitão, S., Dzidic, P., Claessen, M., Gordon, J., Howard, K., Nayton, M., Boyes, M.
(2017). Exploring the impact of living with dyslexia: The perspectives of children and their parents. *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 19(3), 322-334. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549507.2017.1309068

Lindstrom, J. (2019). Dyslexia in the schools: assessment and identification. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 51(3), 189-200. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059918763712

- Lochmiller, C. R., Lucero, A., & Lester, J. N. (2016). Challenges for a new bilingual program: Implementing the International Baccalaureate Primary Years
 Programme in four Colombian schools. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 15(2), 155–174. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475240916660803
- Lyon, G. R., Shaywitz, S. E., & Shaywitz, B. A. (2003). Defining dyslexia, comorbidity, teachers' knowledge of language and reading: A definition of dyslexia. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 53(1), 1–14. https://doi:10.1007/s11881-003-0001-9
- MacDonald-Lane, O. (2020). Educators' Perspectives of the International Baccalaureate Program. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies. 8946. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/8946
- Mace, R. (1998). Universal design in housing. *Assistive Technology*, *10*(1), 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400435.1998.10131957
- Mather, N., White, J., Youman, M. (2020). Dyslexia around the world: A snapshot. Learning Disabilities: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 25(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.18666/LDMJ-2020-V25-I1-9552



- Mazzarol, T., Soutar, G., Seng. M. (2003) The third wave: future trends in international education. *The International Journal of Education Management*, 17(2) 90–99.
- Meijer, C., & Watkins, A. (2019). Financing special needs and inclusive education from Salamanca to the present. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 23(7-8), 705-721.

Mertler, C. (2018). Introduction to Educational Research. Sage Publications.

Miles, M.B, & Huberman, A.M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: A sourcebook of new methods*. Sage.

Moats, L. C. (2009). Knowledge foundations for teaching reading and spelling. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 22, 379–399. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-009-9162-1

Moody, A. (2012). The Education for All Handicapped Children Act: A Faltering Step Towards Integration. Trinity College.

http://commons.trincoll.edu/edreform/2012/05/the-education-for-all-handicappedchildren-act-a-faltering-step-towards-integration/

- Morse, J. (1991). Approaches to qualitative-quantitative methodological triangulation. *Nursing Research*, 40, 120-123.
- Nicolson, R. I. (1996). Developmental dyslexia: past, present and future. *Dyslexia*, 2(3), 190–207. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-0909(199611)2:3<190::AID-DYS62>3.0.CO;2-6
- Nijakowska, J. (2019). Foreign language teachers' preparedness to cater for special educational needs of learners with dyslexia: A conceptual framework. *European*



Journal of Special Needs Education, 34(2), 189-203. https://

doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2019.1581401

Nusche, D. (2016). OECD Reviews of School Resources: Austria 2016. OECD Reviews of School Resources. OECD Publishing.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264256729-en

- O'Cathain, A., Murphy, E., Nicholl, J. (2007). Integration and publications as indicators of "yield" from mixed methods studies. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 1(2), 147-163. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689806299094
- Osterholm, K., Nash, W., Kristonis, W. (2007). Effects of labeling students "learning disabled": emergent themes in the research literature 1970 through 2000. *Focus of College, Universities, and Schools.* (1), 1-11.
- Öz-Kılınç, M. (2009). The effects of globalization process on the education and teacher's identity. (Unpublished doctorate dissertation, Ege University).
- Peltier, T. K., Heddy, B. C., & Peltier, C. (2020). Using conceptual change theory to help preservice teachers understand dyslexia. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 70(1), 62–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-020-00192-z
- Perfetti, C., Pugh, K., & Verhoeven, L. (2019). Developmental dyslexia across languages and writing systems: The bigger picture. In Verhoeven, L., Perfetti, C. & Pugh, K. (Eds.). *Developmental dyslexia across languages and writing systems* (pp. 441–461). Cambridge University Press.
- Pletser, J. (2016). Removing barriers to learning, enabling international schools to respond to diverse needs: identifying the climate and conditions. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Bath of Education).



https://purehost.bath.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/144479591/FINAL_HARDBOU ND_copy_EdD_thesis_J_Pletser.pdf

Price, D. & McCallum, F. (2015). Ecological influences on teachers' well-being and "fitness." Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 43(3), 195-209. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359866X.2014.932329

Qualtrics (2020). https://www.qualtrics.com

Ralabate, K. (2011). Universal Design for Learning: Meeting the Needs of All Students. *ASHA Leader*, 16. https://doi.org/10.1044/leader.FTR2.16102011.14

Ramberg, J. & Watkins, A. (2020). Exploring inclusive education across Europe: Some insights from the European Agency Statistics on inclusive education. FIRE:
Forum for International Research in Education, 6(1).
https://doi.org/10.32865/fire202061172

 Rao, K., Currie-Rubin, R. Logli, C. (2016). UDL and inclusive practices in IB schools worldwide. CAST Professional Learning. https://www.ibo.org/contentassets/318968269ae5441d8df5ae76542817a0/researc

h-udl-full-report-en.pdf

Resnik, J. (2009). Multicultural education - Good for business but not for the state? The IB curriculum and global capitalism. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 57(3), 217-244. http://www.doi.10.1111/j.1467-8527.2009.00440.x

Riddick, B. (2000). An examination of the relationship between labelling and stigmatization with special reference to dyslexia. *Disability & Society*, 15(4), 653. https://doi.org/jerome.stjohns.edu/10.1080/09687590050058233



- Rossman, G.B. & Rallis, S.F. (2017). An Introduction to Qualitative Research: Learning in the Field. Sage.
- Rose, J. (2009). Identifying and teaching children and young people with Dyslexia and literacy difficulties. *An independent report from Sir Jim Rose to the Secretary of State for Children, Schools and Families.* DCSF.
- Rose, G. & Gravel, D. & Gordon, D.T. (2014). Universal design for learning. https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781446282236.n30.
- Rose, D. and Meyer, A. (2011). *A Practical Reader in Universal Design for Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- Rose, D., Meyer, A. Gordon, D. (2014). Universal Design for Learning: Theory and practice. http://udltheorypractice.cast.org.
- Ruppar, A., Allock, H., Gonsier-Gerdin, J. (2017). Ecological factors affecting access to general education content and contexts for students with significant disabilities.
 Remedial and Special Education, 58, 53-63.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932516646856

Santangelo, T. & Tomlinson, C. (2009). The application of differentiated instruction in post-secondary environments: Benefits, challenges, and future directions.
 International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education. 20(3): 307–323. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v2n3p28

Sandhu, P. (2015). Legislation and the current provisions for Specific Learning Disability (SLD) in India: Some observations. *Journal of Disability Studies*, 1, 76-79.

Schreiber, J. (2017). Universal design for learning: a student-centered curriculum perspective. *Curriculum and Teaching*, *32*(2), 89–98.



- Schwartz, A., Hopkins, B., Stiefel, L. (2019). The Effects of Special Education on the Academic Performance of Students with Learning Disabilities. *EdWorkingPaper*, 19-86. Annenberg Institute at Brown University: http://www.edworkingpapers.com/ai19-86
- Shetty, A., & Rai, B. S. (2014). Awareness and knowledge of dyslexia among elementary school teachers in India. *Journal of Medical Science and Clinical Research*, 2(5), 1135-1143.
- Slee, R. (2018). Defining the scope of inclusive education. Paper commissioned for the 2020 Global Education Monitoring Report, Inclusion and education.
- Snowling, M. J., & Hulme, C. (2011). Evidence-based interventions for reading and language difficulties: Creating a virtuous circle. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.2010.02014.x
- Shaywitz, B & Shaywitz, S. (2020). The American experience: towards a 21st century definition of dyslexia. Oxford Review of Education, 46(4). 454-471. https://www.doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2020.1793545
- Shifrer, D. (2013). Stigma of a label: Educational expectations for high school students labeled with learning disabilities. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 54(4), 462-480. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146513503346
- Sienknecht, M. (2020). Dyslexia in Schools. (Master's Thesis, Northwestern College). https://nwcommons.nwciowa.edu/education_masters/214/
- Soriano-Ferrer, M., Echegaray-Bengoa, J., & Joshi, R. (2016). Knowledge and beliefs about developmental dyslexia in pre-service and in-service Spanish-speaking



teachers. Annals of Dyslexia: An Interdisciplinary Journal of the International Dyslexia Association, 66(1), 91-110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-015-0111-1

- Soriano-Ferrer, M., Echegaray-Bengoa, J. (2014). A Scale of Knowledge and Beliefs about Developmental Dyslexia: Scale Development and Validation. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.04.299
- Sparapani, E. F., Perez, D. C., Gould, J., Hillman, S., & Clark, L. (2014). A Global curriculum? Understanding teaching and learning in the United States, Taiwan, India, and Mexico. SAGE Open. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014536406
- Stangor, C. (2011). *Research methods for the behavioral sciences*. Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Stark, H., Snow, P., Eadie, P., Goldfeld, S. (2016). Language and reading instruction in early years' classrooms: The knowledge and self-rated ability of Australian teachers. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 66(1), 28-54. https://www.doi.org/10.1007/s11881-015-0112-0
- Tate, N. (2012). Challenges and pitfalls facing international education in a postinternational world. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 11(3), 205 – 217. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475240912461219
- Tomlinson, C.A. & Cunningham, C. (2003). Differentiation in Practice: A resource guide for differentiating curriculum. ASCD.

Tomilson, C.A. (2014). The Differentiated Classroom. ASCD.

Torgesen, J. K., Wagner, R. K., Rashotte, C. A., Burgess, S., & Hecht, S. (1997).Contributions of phonological awareness and rapid automatic naming ability to the growth of word-reading skills in second-to fifth-grade children. *Scientific*



Studies in Reading, 1, 161–185.

https://www.doi.org/10.1207/s1532799xssr0102 4

UNESCO. (1994). The Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs Education: Access and Quality.

https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000098427

- United Nations. (n.d.). Convention on the Rights of People with Disabilities. https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-ofpersons-with-disabilities.html
- United Nations. (2006). Convention in the rights of persons with disabilities. https://www.un.org/disabilities/documents/convention/convoptprot-e.pdf

University of Oxford. (n.d.). Brief history of Dyslexia.

https://dyslexiahistory.web.ox.ac.uk/brief-history-dyslexia

US Department of Education. (2015). Every Student Succeeds Act.

https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn

US Congress (2018). First Step Act of 2018, Pub. L. No 115-391 https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/5682/text

Vellutino, F. R., Fletcher, J. M., Snowling, M. J., & Scanlon, D. M. (2004). Specific reading disability (dyslexia): What have we learned in the past four decades? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45, 2–40. http://www.doi.org/10.1046/j.0021-9630.2003.00305.x

Verhoeven, L., Perfetti, C., & Pugh, K. (2019). Developmental Dyslexia across languages and writing systems. Cambridge University Press. https: doi.org/10.1017/9781108553377



- Verger, A., Parcerisa, L. & Fontdevila, C. (2019). The growth and spread of large-scale assessments and test-based accountabilities: a political sociology of global education reforms, *Educational Review*, 71(1), 30. https://www.doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2019.1522045
- Wadlington, E. M., & Wadlington, P. L. (2005). What educators really believe about dyslexia. *Reading Improvement*, 42, 16–33.
- Wagner, R., Edwards, A., Malkowski, A., Schatschneider, C., Joyner, R., Wood, S. Zirps,
 F. (2019). Combining old and new for better understanding and predicting
 dyslexia. Special issue: models for innovation. *Advancing approaches to higherrisk and higher-impact learning disabilities science*, 165, 11-23. https://doi.org/
 10.1002/cad.20289
- Wagner, R. K., Torgesen, J. K., Laughon, P., Simmons, K., & Rashotte, C. A.
 (1993). The development of young readers' phonological processing abilities. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 85, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.85.1.83
- Warnock, M. (2013, 8 August). Interview w/ Maggie Snowling. St John's College, Oxford.
- Wanzek, J., Williams, K. J., Walker, M. A., & Vaughn, S. (2017). A synthesis of reading and spelling interventions and their effects on spelling outcomes for students with learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 50(3), 286–297. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219415619753
- Washburn, E., Binks-Cantrell, E., Joshi, R. Malatesha, M., Arrow, S. (2016). Preservice teacher knowledge of basic language constructs in Canada, England, New



Zealand, and the USA. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 66(1), 7-26. https://www.doi.org/ 10.1007/s11881-016-0128-0

- Washburn, E., Joshi, R., & Binks-Cantrell, E. (2011). Teacher knowledge of basic language concepts and dyslexia. *Dyslexia*, 17(2), 165-183. https://www.doi.org/10.1002/dys.426
- Washburn, E., Mulcahy, C., Musante, G., Joshi, R., Malatesha, R. (2017). Novice teachers' knowledge of reading-related disabilities and dyslexia. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, 15(2),169-191.
- Wolf, M., & Stoodley, C. J. (2007). Proust and the Squid: The Story and Science of the Reading Brain (1st ed.). HarperCollins.

Wong, R. (2020). Do kindergarten teachers possess adequate knowledge of basic
 language constructs to teach children to read English as a foreign language?
 Annals of Dyslexia, 70(1), 79–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-020-00197-8

Woodcock, S. & Woolfson, L. (2019). Are leaders leading the way with inclusion? Teachers' perceptions of systematic supports and barriers towards inclusion. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 93, 232-234. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijer.2018.11.004

- Woodcock, S., Hitches, E., & Jones, G. (2019). It's not you, it's me: Teachers' selfefficacy and attributional beliefs towards students with specific learning difficulties. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 97, 107-118. https://www.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2019.07.007
- Worthy, J., DeJulio, S., Svrcek, N., Villarreal, D., Derbyshire, C., LeeKeenan, Kira., Wiebe, M., Lammert, C., Rubin, J., Salmerón, C. (2016). Teachers'



understandings, perspectives, and experiences of dyslexia. *Literacy Research: Theory, Method, and Practice*, 65(1), 436-453. http://doi.org/10.1177/2381336916661529.

- Worthy, J., Salmeron, C., Long, S., Lammert, C., Godfre, V. (2018). Wresting with politics and ideology: Teacher educators' responses to dyslexia discourse and legislation. *Literacy Research: Theory, Method, and Practice*, 67(1), 377-393. https://doi.org/10.1177/2381336918786889
- Wright, K (2005). Researching internet-based populations: advantages and disadvantages of online survey research, online questionnaire authoring software packages, and web survey services. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 10(3). https://www.doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2005.tb00259.xonline research
- Yadav, M., Das, A., Sharma, S., & Tiwari, A. (2015). Understanding teachers' concerns about inclusive education. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 16(4), 653-662. http://www.doi.org/10.1007/s12564-015-9405-6
- Yin, L., Joshi, R. M., & Yan, H. (2020). Knowledge about dyslexia among early literacy teachers in china. *Dyslexia*, 26(3), 247–265. https://doi.org/10.1002/dys.1635
- Yiwen, C. (2018). How dyslexia remains invisible in Chinese schools. https://www.sixthtone.com/news/1001806/how-dyslexia-remains-invisible-inchinese-schools
- Zasler, N., & Joines, S. (2009). Enhancing quality of life through universal design. *Neurorehabilitation*, 25(3), 155–167. http://doi.org/10.3233/NRE-2009-0539



- Zavelevsky, E., & Lishchinsky, O. S. (2020). An ecological perspective of teacher retention: an emergent model. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 88, 102965– 102965. https://www.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.102965
- Zhao, J., Joshi, R., Dixon, L., & Huang, L. (2016). Chinese EFL teachers' knowledge of basic language constructs and their self-perceived teaching abilities. *Annals of Dyslexia: An Interdisciplinary Journal of the International Dyslexia Association,* 66(1), 127-146. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-015-0110-2
- Zirkel, P. A. (2020). Legal developments for students with dyslexia. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 43(3), 127–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/073194872



Vita

Name	Jennifer Preschern
Baccalaureate Degree	Bachelor of Science, Northwestern University, Evanston Major: Communications Sciences and Disorders
Date Graduated	June, 1998
Other Degrees and Certificates	Master of Science, Northwestern University, Evanston, Major: Speech Language Pathology Master of Science, Northwestern University, Evanston, Major: Learning Disabilities
Date Graduated	June, 2000
	Professional Diploma in Educational Administration, Loyola University, Chicago (2002)

